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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013
or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
O ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-33520

comScore, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

Delaware 54-1955550
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

11950 Democracy Drive, Suite 600
Reston, VA 20190

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(703) 438-2000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

(Former name, former address and former fiscal yearif changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastl@s. Yes[xl No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&b site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted @auntsio Rule 405 of Regulation5¢8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grbnths
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YB&b No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirmmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange



Act.

Large accelerated filer [x] Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsiell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act). YesO No

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of ehtfedssuer’s classes of common stock, as ofdtest practicable date: As of July 29,
2013, there were 35,659,293 shares of the regisreommon stock outstanding.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including tleetions entitled “Management’s Discussion and Asialpf Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and “Quantitative and Qadéilre Disclosure About Market Risk” under Itemsr2i&, respectively, of Part | of this
report, and the sections entitled “Legal ProceesintRisk Factors,” and “Unregistered Sales of Eg@ecurities and Use of Proceeds” under
Items 1, 1A and 2, respectively, of Part Il of théport, may contain forward-looking statementseSehstatements may relate to, but are not
limited to, expectations of future operating resuwlt financial performance, macroeconomic trendswe expect may influence our business,
plans for capital expenditures, expectations raggrthe introduction of new products, regulatoryndiance and expected changes in the
regulatory landscape affecting our business, exgédatpact of litigation, plans for growth and fugwperations, effects of acquisitions, as wel
as assumptions relating to the foregoing. Forwaaodkihg statements are inherently subject to risksuncertainties, some of which cannot be
predicted or quantified. These risks and otheroiacinclude, but are not limited to, those listedier the section entitled “Risk Factors” in
Item 1A of Part Il of this Quarterly Report on Fofid-Q. In some cases, you can identify forward-ioglstatements by terminology such as
“may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” fitend,” “potential,” “continue,” “seekbdr the
negative of these terms or other comparable tedmgyo These statements are only predictions. Aauehts and/or results may differ
materially.

We believe that it is important to communicate future expectations to our investors. However,dglreay be events in the future that
are not able to accurately predict or control drad tnay cause our actual results to differ matgrfedm the expectations we describe in our
forward{ooking statements. Except as required by apple, including the securities laws of the Unigtdtes and the rules and regulati
of the Securities and Exchange Commission, we d@laa to publicly update or revise any forwarddog statements, whether as a result of
any new information, future events or otherwiségeothan through the filing of periodic reportsaiccordance with the Securities Exchange
of 1934, as amended. Investors and potential invgeshould not place undue reliance on our forvaotting statements. Before you invest in
our common stock, you should be aware that theroegce of any of the events described in the “FRig&tors” section and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q could harm our bussnerospects, operating results and financialiiond Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking staats are reasonable, we cannot guarantee fusuksdevels of activity, performance or
achievements.
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Item 1. Financial Statements

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,361$h117, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Deferred tax assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other non-current assets
Long-term deferred tax assets
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Total assets
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Borrowings under revolving credit facility
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenues
Deferred rent
Deferred tax liabilities
Capital lease obligations
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent, long-term
Deferred revenue, long-term
Deferred tax liabilities, long-term
Capital lease obligations, long-term
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; 9)000shares authorized at June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012; no shares issued or outstaatlihgne 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012

Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,00G0ares authorized at June 30, 2013
December 31, 2012; 35,659,526 shares issued aG8&@689 outstanding as of June 30, 20
and 35,679,430 shares issued and outstanding aniber 31, 2012, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit

Treasury stock, at cost, 23,437 and 0 shares &snef 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,

respectively
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012
(Unaudited)
85,77( 61,76¢
61,12: 68,34¢
7,63t 8,871
10,75¢ 9,94(
165,28t 148,92¢
33,69¢ 31,41¢
664 414
8,27¢ 12,06t
36,22¢ 40,75¢
102,15¢ 102,90(
346,30t 336,48!
1,952 —
5,67 7,22¢
25,57¢ 24,40¢
80,23¢ 80,82«
96¢ 807
— 17
8,58: 8,02(
122,99. 121,30t
11,55¢ 10,09¢
852 1,71¢
— 13C
9,57¢ 6,47¢
1,06z 1,115
146,03: 140,84
36 36
283,29° 274,62.
69¢ 1,82¢
(83,267 (80,84()
(49€) —
200,27¢ 195,64
346,30t 336,48!




The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Three months ended June 30,

Six months ended June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenues $ 69,91: $ 60,29: $ 138,75¢ $ 122,56¢
Cost of revenues (excludes amortization of intalegissets) (1 21,61( 20,37: 44,16« 40,77:
Selling and marketing (1) 25,49: 22,23t 49,94¢ 43,58(
Research and development (1) 9,80: 8,261 20,02¢ 16,30:
General and administrative (1) 11,23¢ 9,72t 20,25( 18,83:
Amortization of intangible assets 1,93¢ 2,30z 4,08 4,62
Impairment of intangible assets — 3,34¢ — 3,34¢
Gain on asset disposition — — (210 —
Settlement of litigation (1,160 — (1,260 —
Total expenses from operations 68,91¢ 66,24¢ 137,10t 127,45
Income (loss) from operations 99z (5,95¢) 1,65: (4,89))
Interest and other (expense), net (16§) (169) (332 (367)
Gain (loss) from foreign currency 93 (309) (247) (567)
Income (loss) before income tax provision 91¢ (6,43)) 1,07¢ (5,825
Income tax provision (1,31¢) (15€) (3,499 (1,239
Net loss $ (39¢) $ (6,587 $ (2,420 $ (7,059
Net loss available to common stockholders per comshare:

Basic (0.0)) 020 $ (0.07) $ (0.21)

Diluted (0.09) (0.20 % (0.07) $ (0.21)
Weighted-average number of shares used in per share
calculation - common stock:

Basic 34,414,30 33,189,99 34,317,56 32,991,29

Diluted 34,414,30 33,189,99 34,317,56 32,991,29
Comprehensive (loss) income:
Net loss $ (399 $ (6,587) $ (2,420 $ (7,05%)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation adjustment (30¢) (2,309 (1,12¢) (684)
Total comprehensive (loss) income $ (704) $ (8,89) $ (3,547 $ (7,742)
(1) Amortization of stock-based compensatiom@suded in the line items above as follows:

Cost of revenues $ 83z % 65 $ 1,54¢ $ 1,20¢
Selling and marketing $ 3,21¢ % 3,001 $ 6,03: % 5,18¢
Research and development $ 60z $ 48t $ 1,21¢ $ 89C
General and administrative $ 2,49: % 2,20C $ 3,34¢ 3 4,15]

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 20
Net loss

Foreign currency translation
adjustment

Exercise of common stock
options

Exercise of common stock
warrants

Issuance of restricted stock
Restricted stock cancelled
Restricted stock units vested

(In thousands, except share data)

COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Unaudited)

Accumulated

Common stock received for ta:

withholding
Stock based compensation

Excess tax benefits from stock

based compensation, net
Balance at June 30, 2012

Balance at December 31, 20
Net loss

Foreign currency translation
adjustment

Exercise of common stock
options

Issuance of restricted stock
Restricted stock cancelled
Restricted stock units vested

Common stock received for ta:

withholding
Repurchase of common stoc
Stock based compensation

Balance at June 30, 2013

Common Stock Additional Other Accumulated Total
Paid-In Comprehensive Stockholders’ Treasury Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital (Loss) Income Deficit stock, at cost Equity
1. 34,01543 $ 34 $ 25896 $ 617 $ (69,05) $ — 3 190,56°
— — — — (7,05%) — (7,05%)
— — — (682) — — (684)
29,57: — 76 — — — 76
19,89t — — — — — —
1,457,56 1 () — — — _
(122,74 — — — — — —
100,62 — — — — — —
(268,567) — (6,030 — — — (6,030
— — 13,65¢ — — — 13,65¢
— — (51 — — — (52)
35,231,79 35 $ 266,61 $ 67) $ (76,109 $ — 190,47¢
12 35,679,43 $ 36 $ 27462 $ 182 $ (80,840) $ — 3 195,64
_ | — — (2,427 — (2,42)
— — — (1,126 — — (1,126
22,16: — 91 — — — 91
404,92: — — — — — —
(A74,74) — — — — — —
157,10: — — — — — —
(429,34) — (7,049 — — (7,049
k (23,43) — — — — (496) (496
— — 15,63: — — — 15,63:
35,636,08 $ 36 $ 28329 $ 69¢ $ (83,267) $ (496) $ 200,27"

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Six months ended June 30,

2013 2012
Operating activities
Net loss $ (2,42) $ (7,05%)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating activities:
Depreciation 8,15¢ 6,92:
Amortization of intangible assets 4,08 4,62
Impairment of intangible assets — 3,34¢
Provision for bad debts 582 87¢
Stock-based compensation 12,14¢ 11,42¢
Amortization of deferred rent 61 18¢
Deferred tax provision 2,70z 8,25¢
(Gain) Loss on asset disposal (222) (33
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 6,17¢ 6,501
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,20C (8,179
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othelitlebi 2,92¢ (6,33%)
Deferred revenues (€N} 3,71
Deferred rent 1,59( —
Net cash provided by operating activities 36,98: 24,25
Investing activities
Proceeds from asset disposition 16C —
Purchase of property and equipment (2,315 (3,029
Net cash used in investing activities (2,155 (3,029
Financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options 91 76
Repurchase of common stock (withholding taxes) (7,049 (6,030
Repurchase of common stock (treasury shares) (49¢€) —
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (4,629 (3,289
Proceeds from financing arrangements 3,941 —
Principal payments on financing arrangements (2,979 —
Net cash used in financing activities (10,10 (9,249
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (7149 23¢
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,00¢ 12,22¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 61,76¢ 38,07:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 85,77C % 50,29¢
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Interest paid $ 277 % 38¢
Income taxes paid $ 704 % 402
Supplemental noncash investing and financing actities
Capital lease obligations incurred $ 831 % 2,44¢
Accrued capital expenditures $ 1,021 % =
Leasehold improvements acquired through lease fivesn $ 1,59C $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

comScore, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporaeincorporated in August 1999, provides on-demaigéal analytics that enable
customers to make wealformed business decisions and implement moretftedigital business strategies. More specificathe Company
an Internet technology company that measures wéwilp do as they navigate the digital world andyaes that information to provide
insights and recommended actions for the Compauagt®mers to maximize the value of their digitaldstments. The Company'’s products
offer customers deep insights into consumer behaividluding objective, detailed information regeugl usage of their online properties and
those of their competitors, coupled with informatimn consumer demographic characteristics, atstudestyles and offline behavior. The
Company provides its products through a scalaldéw@re-as-a-Service, SaaS, delivery model, whichieates the need for customers to
install and maintain hardware and software in otderse the Company’s products.

The Company’s digital marketing intelligence platfois comprised of proprietary databases and a atatipnal infrastructure that
measures, analyzes and reports on digital actwitydwide. The foundation of the platform is datdlected from a panel of more than two
million Internet users worldwide who have grantedhte Company explicit permission to confidentiatigasure their Internet usage patterns,
online and certain offline buying behavior and othetivities. For measuring and reporting onlindiances, comScore also supplements pane
information with census information obtained frame {Company's tagged network of global websitesyred to as the comScore Census
Network. This panel information is complementedabynified Digital Measurement approach to digitadlience measurement. Unified Digi
Measurement blends panel and census methodolodéea product that provides a direct linkage amdmeiliation between census and panel
measurement. By applying advanced statistical nagtlogies to the panel data, the Company projeaiswmers’ online behavior for the total
online population and a wide variety of user cati&go In addition to the Company’s comScore Cemetsvork products, the Company
provides software and other products to the largbilm networks that deliver network analysis foalisa the experience of wireless
subscribers, as well as network intelligence wétbpect to performance, capacity and configuratiatygics. The Company also provides
digital and monetization analytics and innovativee® measurement products.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidatic

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiaentade the accounts of the Company and its wholyred subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions and accohat® been eliminated upon consolidation. The Compansolidates investments where it
has a controlling financial interest. The usualditian for controlling financial interest is ownéip of a majority of the voting interest and,
therefore, as a general rule, ownership, direatipdirectly, of more than 50% of the outstandimging shares is a condition indicating
consolidation. For investments in variable intemttties, the Company would consolidate when determined to be the primary beneficiary
of a variable interest entity. The Company doeshaee any variable interest entities.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The consolidated interim financial statements idelliin this quarterly report on Form 10-Q have hmepared by the Company without
audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations ofbeurities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”jtalieinformation and footnote
disclosures normally included in consolidated imefinancial statements prepared in accordance Wigh generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) have been condensed or omitiedsuant to such rules and regulations. HoweverCthmpany believes that the
disclosures contained in this quarterly report clymapth the requirements of Section 13(a) of theB&ies Exchange Act of 1934, as amen
for a quarterly report on Form 10-Q and are adegteamake the information presented not misleadig. consolidated interim financial
statements included herein, reflect all adjustméasisting of normal recurring adjustments) whaeh, in the opinion of management,
necessary for a fair presentation of the finangtsdition, results of operations and cash flowdlierinterim periods presented. These
consolidated interim financial statements shoulddagl in conjunction with the consolidated finahstatements and notes thereto contained i
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tharyended December 31, 2012, filed February 20, 20t8the SEC. The results of
operations for the three and six months ended 30n2013 are not necessarily indicative of theltesa be anticipated for the entire year
ending December 31, 2013 or thereafter. All refeesrto June 30, 2013 and 2012 or to the threeiamdomiths ended June 30, 2013 and 2012
in the notes to the consolidated interim finanstatements are unaudited.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresplequires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities and the repaitedunts of revenue and expense during the
reporting periods. Significant estimates and assiomp are inherent in the analysis and the measemeof deferred tax assets, the
identification and quantification of income taxHilities due to
uncertain tax positions, recoverability of intarlgibssets, other long-lived assets and goodwilinases related to outstanding litigation, and
the determination of the allowance for doubtful@ats. The Company bases its estimates on histesip&rience and assumptions that it
believes are reasonable. Actual results could rdiften those estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company evaluates the fair value of certaiptasand liabilities using the fair value hierarchgir value is defined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to fearssliability in an orderly transaction betweeanket participants at the measurement date. A
such, fair value is a market-based measuremenshivaild be determined based on assumptions th&eirzarticipants would use in pricing an
asset or liability. As a basis for considering sashumptions, the Company applies the fair valashihy which prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted pricestive markets;

Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices tivaanarkets that are observable either directlindirectly;

Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there elibr no market data, which require the Compangeieelop its own assumptions.
The Company does not currently have any assetahilities that are measured at fair value on aiméeg basis. However, cash

equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expargbsther assets, accounts payable, accrued expéeserred revenue, deferred rent and
capital lease obligations reported in the constdidéalance sheets equal or approximate their cégpdair values.

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fdiresran a non-recurring basis include fixed assetangible assets and goodwill. The
Company recognizes these items at fair value whey are considered to be impaired or upon inigabgnition. During the first quarter of
2013, certain intangible assets acquired were medsi fair value using significant unobservablauits (Level 3) as described in Note 3.
During the six months ended June 30, 2013, the @osnpecorded these assets as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
March 31, Identical Observable Unobservable Total Gains
2013 Assets Inputs Inputs (Losses)
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Description (In thousands)
Long-lived assets held and used $ 1,18: $ 1,18 $ —

During the three and six months ended June 30, 28t8in intangible assets were measured at faieussing significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3). The Company recorded an impaitnebarge of $3.3 million pertaining to these asastfollows:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted

Prices in

Active Significant

Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable Tot_al
June 30, Assets Inputs Inputs Gains
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) (Losses)

Description (In thousands)
Long-lived assets held and used $ 2,50( $ 2,50C $ (3,349
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Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly ligGovestments with an original maturity of three menor less at the time of purchase.
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of lilegosit accounts. The Company maintains cash astdexjuivalents at financial
institutions. The combined account balances at ewthution typically exceed FDIC insurance cowand, as a result, there is a
concentration of credit risk related to amountsieposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. Toragainy believes the risk is not
significant.

Interest income on investments and excess cashdesavas a nominal amount for the three and siximcended June 30, 2013 and
2012.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoicedusnnand are non-interest bearing. The Companyrgiygrants uncollateralized
credit terms to its customers and maintains amaltace for doubtful accounts to reserve for potdigtincollectible receivables. Allowances
are based on management’s judgment, which condiitstgical experience and specific knowledge afoamits where collectibility may not be
probable. The Company makes provisions based toricisl bad debt experience, a specific reviewllo$ignificant outstanding invoices and
an assessment of general economic conditionse ffitlancial condition of a customer deterioratesuiting in an impairment of its ability to
make payments, additional allowances may be redjire

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net@fraalated depreciation. Property and equipmengjsetiated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets,ingrfgom three to five years . Assets under capitases are recorded at their net present value
at the inception of the lease and are includetiéraippropriate asset category. Assets under cégatsgs and leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of the related leasageanr their useful lives. Replacements and maj@ravements are capitalized; maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurredrtixatoon of assets under capital leases is inaudithin the expense category in which the
asset is deployed.

Business Combination

The Company recognizes all of the assets acquiaduiljties assumed, contractual contingencies, @nttingent consideration at their fair va
on the acquisition date. Acquisition-related c@stsrecognized separately from the acquisitioneaqpensed as incurred. Generally,
restructuring costs incurred in periods subseqteetite acquisition date are expensed when incugeldsequent changes to the purchase pric
(i.e., working capital adjustments) or other faatue adjustments determined during the measurepegitd are recorded as an adjustment to
goodwill. All subsequent changes to an income tlxation allowance or uncertain tax position tiedate to the acquired company and existe
at the acquisition date that occur both withineasurement period and as a result of facts aodnastances that existed at the acquisition
date are recognized as an adjustment to goodwilbther changes in income tax valuation allowarex@srecognized as a reduction or incre

to income tax expense or as a direct adjustmesdddional paid-in capital as required.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets aaplisnd liabilities assumed when a
business is acquired. The allocation of the purelmiEe to intangible assets and goodwill involtfesextensive use of managememstimate
and assumptions, and the result of the allocationgss can have a significant impact on futureaipwey results. The Company estimates the
fair value of identifiable intangible assets acqdiusing various valuation methods, including theees earnings and relief from royalty
methods.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortize@rmtheir useful lives while goodwill is not amaetd but is evaluated for potential
impairment at least annually by comparing the ¥ailue of a reporting unit to its carrying valuelirding goodwill recorded by the reporting
unit. If the carrying value exceeds the fair valngpairment is measured by comparing the impliedvalue of the goodwill to its carrying
value, and any impairment determined is recordabercurrent period. All of the Company’s goodusllassociated with its single reporting
unit. Accordingly, on an annual basis the Compagygms the impairment assessment for goodwilhatanterprise level. The Company
completed its annual impairment analysis as of Datd st for 2012 and determined that there wasnpairment of goodwill. There have been
no indicators of impairment suggesting that anrimtessessment was necessary for goodwill sinc®theber 1, 2012 analysis.
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Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizethyg the straight-line method over the followingus lives:

Useful

Lives

(Years)
Acquired methodologies/technology 3to 1(
Customer relationships 3to 1:
Panel 7
Intellectual property 7 to 18
Trade names 2 to 1(

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets primarily consfgtroperty and equipment and intangible assets.Gdmapany evaluates its long-lived
assets for impairment whenever events or changascimmstances indicate the carrying value of saggets may not be recoverable. If an
indication of impairment is present, the Companmpares the estimated undiscounted future cash flolwe generated by the asset to its
carrying amount. Recoverability measurement arichation of undiscounted cash flows are groupeth@tdwest level for which identifiable
cash flows are largely independent of the cashdlofwother assets and liabilities. If the undisdedrfuture cash flows are less than the car
amount of the asset group, the Company recordsipaifment loss equal to the excess of the assep@roarrying amount over its fair value.
The fair value is determined based on valuatiohrigpies such as a comparison to fair values ofairagsets or using a discounted cash flow
analysis. Although the Company believes that thieyoay values of its long-lived assets are appiatety stated, changes in strategy or market
conditions or significant technological developnsetwuld significantly impact these judgments argline adjustments to recorded asset
balances. There were no impairment charges recegjdiaring the three and six months ended June(3@. During the three and six months
ended June 30, 2012, the Company recorded an im@aircharge of $3.3 million related to certain mgfible assets.

Leases

The Company leases its facilities and accountthimse leases as operating leases. For facilitg$ethst contain rent escalations or rent
concession provisions, the Company records théretapayable during the lease term on a strdigbtbasis over the term of the lease. The
Company records the difference between the redtamad the straight-line rent as a deferred rebtiliig. Leasehold improvements funded by
landlord incentives or allowances are recordea@dasdhold improvement assets and a deferred rbitityiavhich is amortized as a reduction of
rent expense over the term of the lease.

The Company records capital leases as an assenhasfaligation at an amount equal to the presenievaf the minimum lease payments
as determined at the beginning of the lease temorfization of capitalized leased assets is contpatea straight-line basis over the term of
the lease and is included in depreciation and dpabiin expense.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s foreighsdiaries is the local currency. All assets andilities are translated at the current
exchange rate as of the end of the period, andhuegeand expenses are translated at average erataaeg in effect during the period. The
gain or loss resulting from the process of traimgdpforeign currency financial statements into W8llars is reflected as foreign currency
cumulative translation adjustment and reported @maponent of accumulated other comprehensive iscom

The Company incurred a foreign currency transaaj@in of $0.1 million and a loss of $0.2 milliorr filne three and six months ended
June 30, 2013, respectively, and foreign curreraysaction losses of $0.3 million and $0.6 millfonthe three and six months ended June
2012, respectively. These gains and losses amesiiét of transactions denominated in currenciberathan the functional currency of the
Company’s foreign subsidiariesThe majority of the Company’s foreign operations denominated in the euro, the British Pound amidwsa
currencies in Latin America.

Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company recognizes revenues when the follofuindamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive evigenf an arrangement exists,
(i) delivery has occurred or the services haventreadered, (iii) the fee is fixed or determinalaled (iv) collection of the resulting receivable
is reasonably assured.
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The Company generates revenues by providing ateélse Company'’s online database or deliveringrimition obtained from the
database, usually in the form of periodic repdrisvenues are typically recognized on a straigletdtiasis over the period in which access to
data or reports is provided, which generally rarfga® three to twenty-four months.

Revenues are also generated through survey sewices contracts ranging in term from two montherieyear. Survey services cons
of survey and questionnaire design with subseqd@tat collection, analysis and reporting. At thesetibf an arrangement, total arrangement
consideration is allocated between the developmikthie survey questionnaire and subsequent dalectioh, analysis and reporting services
based on relative selling price. Revenue alloctddde survey questionnaire is recognized whehdelivered and revenue allocated to the dat
collection, analysis and reporting services is gaized on a straight-line basis over the estimd#gd collection period once the survey or
guestionnaire design has been delivered. Any chantiee estimated data collection period resultariradjustment to revenues recognized in
future periods.

Certain of the Company’s arrangements contain plalélements, consisting of the various servicesdbmpany offers. Multiple
element arrangements typically consist of eithésstiptions to multiple online products or a sul@n to the Company’s online database
combined with customized services.

For these types of arrangements, the Company usiesagichy to determine the selling price to beduse allocating arrangement
consideration to deliverables: (i) vendor-spedifijective evidence of fair value (“VSOE"), (ii) tdi-party evidence of selling price (“TPE") if
VSOE is not available, or (iii) an estimated seglprice (“ESP”) if neither VSOE nor TPE are avaiéa/SOE generally exists only when the
Company sells the deliverable separately and iptice actually charged by the Company for thaiveehble on a stand-alone basis. ESP
reflects the Company’s estimate of what the selfirige of a deliverable would be if it was soldukgly on a stand-alone basis.

The Company has concluded it does not have VSOHEhése types of arrangements, and TPE is generailgvailable because the
Company’s service offerings are highly differergand the Company is unable to obtain reliablermétion on the products and pricing
practices of the Company’s competitors. As suctP i3used to allocate the total arrangement coratide at the arrangement inception base
on each element’s relative selling price.

The Company'’s process for determining ESP invoiiasagement’s judgments based on multiple factetsniay vary depending upon
the unique facts and circumstances related to pantuct suite and deliverable. The Company deteasSP by considering several external
and internal factors including, but not limited toirrent pricing practices, pricing concentrati¢gsch as industry, channel, customer class or
geography), internal costs and market penetrati@nppoduct or service. The total arrangement ataration is allocated to each of the
elements based on the relative selling price.dfE®P is determined as a range of selling pribesnid-point of the range is used in the
relative-selling-price method. Once the total agement consideration has been allocated to easredsile based on the relative allocation of
the arrangement fee, the Company commences revecognition for each deliverable on a staolhe basis as the data or service is delivi

Generally, contracts are non-refundable and noceadahle. In the event a portion of a contract fandable, revenue recognition is
delayed until the refund provisions lapse. A lirditeumber of customers have the right to cancet twitracts by providing a written notice of
cancellation. In the event that a customer caritetontract, the customer is not entitled to ameffor prior services, and will be charged for
costs incurred plus services performed up to tineelation date.

Advance payments are recorded as deferred revemtiéservices are delivered or obligations are amet revenue can be recognized.
Deferred revenues represent the excess of amowttie€d over amounts recognized as revenues.

The Company also generates revenue through softiganses, professional services (including sofenarstomization, implementation,
training and consulting services), and maintenamektechnical support contracts. The Company’sigaaents generally contain multiple
elements, consisting of the various service offgimhe Company recognizes software license armegs that include significant
modification and customization of the software ¢ée@dance with Financial Accounting Standards Bg&FASB”) Accounting Standards
Coadification (*“ASC”) 985-605Software Recognitionand ASC 605-35Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Certaiiction-Type
Contracts, using either percentage-of-completion or the deteg-contract method. Under the percentage-of-tetop method, the Company
uses the input method to measure progress, whigdisisd on the ratio of costs incurred to datetad &stimated costs at completion. The
percentage-of-completion method is used when feliestimates of progress and completion underdh&act can be made. Under the
completed-contract method, billings and costst{oextent they are recoverable) are accumulatedeobalance sheet, but no profit or income
is recorded before user acceptance of the softlicarese. The completed-contract method is used wél@able estimates cannot be made or
other terms under the contract require it. To tkteret estimated costs are expected to exceed reyvdriCompany accrues for costs
immediately.

The Company accounts for nonmonetary transactindsrtuASC 845Nonmonetary TransactiondNonmonetary transactions with
commercial substance are recorded at the estinfaitechlue of assets surrendered including castash is
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less than 25% of the fair value of the overall exae, unless the fair value of the assets recésvexbre clearly evident, in which case the fair
value of the asset received is used. During theethnd six months ended June 30, 2013 the Compaagnized $0.3 million and $0.7 million
in revenue related to nonmonetary transactions.tBtiening differences in the delivery and recaipthe respective nonmonetary assets
exchanged, the expense recognized in each peraifiesent from the amount of revenue recognizesl aXxesult, during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2013, the Company recogixddnillion and $0.9 million in expense relatechbnmonetary transactions.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of share-bas@ads on the date of grant. The fair value oflstaptions with only service
conditions is determined using the Black-Scholemagpricing model. The fair value of markiesed stock options and restricted stock un
determined using a Monte Carlo simulation embeddedlattice model. The fair value of restrictedckt awards is based on the closing pric
the Company’s common stock on the date of grarg. ddtermination of the fair value of the Comparsitsck option awards and restricted
stock awards is based on a variety of factors dinly but not limited to, the Company’s common &tpdce, expected stock price volatility
over the expected life of awards, and actual anfepted exercise behavior. Additionally, the Comphas estimated forfeitures for share-
based awards at the dates of grant based on hatexiperience and future expectations. The fanfeiestimate is revised as necessary if actu
forfeitures differ from these estimates.

The Company issues restricted stock awards wheteat@®ns lapse upon the passage of time (seméséing), achieving performance
targets, or some combination of these restrictibns those restricted stock awards with only sergienditions, the Company recognizes
compensation cost on a straight-line basis oveexpdicit service period. For awards with both pemfiance and service conditions, the
Company starts recognizing compensation cost ¢serdmaining service period, when it is probabéepgarformance condition will be met. |
stock awards that contain performance or markdingesonditions, the Company excludes these awfaots diluted earnings per share
computations until the contingency is met as ofdghé of that reporting period.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtaility method. Deferred income taxes are prodifier temporary differences in
recognizing certain income, expense and creditdttmfinancial reporting purposes and tax repgrparposes. Such deferred income taxes
primarily relate to the difference between theliases of assets and liabilities and their finaneipbrting amounts. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured by applying enacted stayuiax rates applicable to the future years incltdeferred tax assets or liabilities are
expected to be settled or realized.

The Company records a valuation allowance wheatiérthines, based on available positive and negatildence, that it is more-likely-
thannot that some portion or all of its deferred tageds will not be realized. The Company determiheg¢alizability of its deferred tax ass
primarily based on the reversal of existing taxdblaporary differences and projections of futuseatde income (exclusive of reversing
temporary differences and carryforwards). In eviithgasuch projections, the Company considers g&sohy of profitability, the competitive
environment, the overall outlook for the online keting industry and general economic conditionsaddition, the Company considers the
timeframe over which it would take to utilize theferred tax assets prior to their expiration.

For certain tax positions, the Company uses a riked-than-not threshold based on the technicalitmef the tax position taken. Tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not redtign threshold are measured at the largest ammiuaix benefits determined on a cumulative
probability basis, which are more-likely-than-nothte realized upon ultimate settlement in the fom@rstatements. The Company’s policy is to
recognize interest and penalties related to incaxenatters in income tax expense.

Earnings Per Share

Basic net loss per common share excludes dilutopdtential common stock issuances and is comptetividing net loss by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstgufaiirthe period. Diluted net loss per common sheflects the potential dilution that
could occur if securities or other contracts taigssommon stock were exercised or converted imanoon stock. Diluted earnings per share
assumes the exercise of stock options and waruairig the treasury stock method.

On June 3, 2013 the Company announced that itsllwdatirectors had approved the repurchase of @d@million of the Company's
common stock. Such repurchases may be made froet¢itime subject to pre-determined price and velgmidelines established by the
Company's board of directors. The weighted-aveshgees outstandinggmmon stock has been adjusted downward for sbatechases mau
during the three months ended June 30, 2013. Satadie 10 for more information pertaining to then@pany's share repurchases.
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The following table provides a reconciliation oéthumerators and denominators used in computirig Bad diluted net loss per
common share:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Net loss $ (39¢) $ (6,587) $ (2,420 $ (7,05¢)
Net loss per share - common stock:

Basic $ (0.0)) $ (0.20) $ (0.07) $ (0.23)

Diluted $ (0.0 $ (0.20) $ (0.07) $ (0.2

Weighted-average shares outstanding-common staskg

and dilutive 34,414,30 33,189,99 34,317,56 32,991,29

The following is a summary of common stock equingédefor the securities outstanding during the respe periods that have been
excluded from the earnings per share calculatisrtheir impact was anti-dilutive.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Stock options and restricted stock 1,057,46: 1,846,90! 1,309,43. 1,460,55
Common stock warrants — — — 6,00:

Recent Pronouncement

In February 2013, FASB issued Accounting standapttate 2013-02;omprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Artsou
Reclassified out of Accumulated Other Comprehersn@me. This update requires an entity to provide infalioraabout the amount
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me by component. The entity is also requicedisclose significant amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me by the respective line items of net incdomeonly if the amount reclassified is
required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified toinebme in its entirety in the same reporting pesidébr other amounts that are not required
under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in their entiriet net income, an entity is required to crosference to other discourses required under
GAAP that provide additional detail about those ante. The objective in this update is to improve itbporting of reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income. The amantdrmethis update should be applied prospectif@lyeporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2012. This standard did not have amahimpact on the Company’s financial statements.

3. Asset Disposition

On March 18, 2013, the Company and its wholly-owselsidiary RSC The Quality Measurement Comparso (lahown as ARSgroup),
sold certain assets related to its ARS Non-HeatthyCTesting and Equity Tracking business to MSW.ARE, a Delaware limited liability
company ("Buyer").

In connection with the disposition, the Companyl véteive total proceeds of $1.0 million in caslithv0.25 million received at closing
on March 18, 2013, net of advisory fees, and $tnitkon placed in escrow, which will be received in threg@a quarterly payments beginni
June 30, 2013 and ending on December 31, 2013fifBh@ayment scheduled for June 30, 2013 has bammived. In addition, the Company
entered into a license agreement in which it veithm the right to use the necessary intellectt@bgrty to continue to provide the ARS Copy-
Testing and Equity Tracking services to its Headtlated customers and recorded an intangible af$4t2 million based on the estimated fair
value of the licensed intellectual property. Inedtatining the fair value of the intangible asse¢, @ompany prepared a discounted cash flow
(“DCF") analysis. In preparing the DCF analysig tbompany used a combination of income approacdicasding the relief from royalty
approach and the excess earnings approach. Detegnfiair value requires the exercise of significarttgment, including judgments about
appropriate discount rates, terminal growth rai@glty rates and the amount and timing of expefitagre cash flows. The cash flows
employed in the DCF analysis were based on the @agip most recent budgets, forecasts and busiriass as well as growth rate
assumptions for years beyond the current busiriasspgriod. Significant assumptions used includiésaount rate of 18.5%which is based ¢
an assessment of the risk inherent in the futuremee streams and

14




Table of Contents

cash flows associated with the health related ousis of ARS, as well as a royalty rate of 3.0% icihs based on an analysis of royalty rates
in similar, market transactions. This intangibleeiswvill be amortized on a straight-line basis dteestimated useful life of 3 years beginning
April 1, 2013. The assets disposed of included agerpequipment, furniture and fixtures, intelled¢foioperty and the intangible assets
associated with the ARSgroup. Due to the facttiiraCompany will continue to provide the ARS Cdssting and Equity Tracking service:
its Health related customers and has thereforeliminated the operations and cash flows of the gdfe&p, management has concluded that
the disposition does not qualify for presentatieriscontinued operations.

As a result of the disposition, during the threenthe ended March 31, 2013, the Company recordednaog the Disposition of $0.2
million , determined as follows (in thousands):

Cash proceeds received at closing, net $ 16C
Proceeds receivable (placed in escrow) 75C
Fair value of licensed intellectual property 1,18

2,097
Carrying value of assets disposed (1,43¢)
Goodwill allocated to disposition (289
Fair value of accelerated equity awards (157)
Gain on disposition $ 21C
4, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The change in the carrying value of goodwill foe #ix months ended June 30, 2013 is as followth@insands):

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 102,90(
Goodwill allocated to ARS disposition (289)
Translation adjustments (459

Balance as of June 30, 2013 $ 102,15¢

Certain of the Company’s intangible assets arerdexbin euros, British Pounds and the local cuiiesnof the Company’s South
American subsidiaries, and therefore, the grosyicar amount and accumulated amortization are stiltgeforeign currency translation
adjustments. The carrying values of the Companyisréizable acquired intangible assets are as fallowthousands):

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012
Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Acquired methodologies/technology $ 7617 $ (4,65)) $ 2,96¢ $ 841: $ 4,372 $ 4,04(
Customer relationships 34,80¢ (12,727 22,08t 35,76¢ (11,230 24,53¢
Panel 1,60¢ (1,167%) 43¢ 1,63¢ (1,079 56€
Intellectual property 13,55¢ (3,220 10,33¢ 13,57: (2,459 11,11:
Trade names 2,81¢ (2,41%) 401 4,15 (3,64¢) 50t

$  6040¢ $ (24179 $  36,22¢ $ 6354 $  (22,78) $  40,75¢

Amortization expense related to intangible assets approximately $1.9 million and $4.1 million tbe three andix months ended Ju
30, 2013, respectively, and $2.3 million and $#ibion for the three and six months ended June2BQ2, respectively.
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The weighted average remaining amortization pebypchajor asset class as of June 30, 2013, islasvfo

(In years)
Acquired methodologies/technology 2.3
Customer relationships 6.4
Panel 1.9
Intellectual property 7.9
Trade names 2.0
The estimated future amortization of acquired igthle assets as of June 30, 2013 is as follows:
(In thousands)
2013 $ 3,82t
2014 7,53t
2015 6,53¢
2016 5,25¢
2017 4,227
Thereafter 8,84t
$ 36,22¢
5. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:
June 30, December 31,
2013 2012
(In thousands)

Payroll and related $ 8,00¢ $ 5,55¢
Income, sales and other taxes 2,79( 2,73:
Cost of revenues 5,817 4,89
Professional fees 1,577 1,33
Stock-based compensation 3,28¢ 6,652
Other 4,101 3,24:

$ 25,57¢ $ 24,40¢
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6. Long-term Debt and Other Financing Arrangement

Capital Leases

The Company has a lease financing arrangementBaitic of America Leasing & Capital, LLC in the ambon$10.0 million , of which
the Company can utilize approximately $10.0 millamof June 30, 2013 for future capital leasess &hiangement allows the Company to
lease new software, hardware and other computépragut as it expands its technology infrastructargupport of its business growth. Under
this arrangement, the Company may enter into ngitatdeases prior to February 26, 2014 . The arteotire Company has utilized to date
under this arrangement have not lowered the anaaitable for future capital leases, because thasaunts have been assigned by Banc of
America Leasing & Capital, LLC under separate thpedty arrangements. In addition, the Company erit¢o capital leases under non-
committed arrangements, typically directly with gment manufacturers. Future minimum payments uodpital leases with initial terms of
one year or more are as follows:

(In thousands)

2013$% 5,33¢
2014 7,26¢
2015 5,16¢
2016 1,40(
2017 36
Total minimum lease payments 19,20¢
Less amount representing interest (1,049
Present value of net minimum lease payments 18,157
Less current portion 8,58:
Capital lease obligations, long-term $ 9,57¢

During the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 28@2Company acquired $7.8 million and $2.4 milljoespectively, in computer
equipment through the issuance of capital leadgis.ffon-cash investing activity has been excludenh fthe consolidated statement of cash
flows.

Secured Revolving Credit Facilit

On June 30, 2011, the Company entered into a stcoedit and security agreement (the “Credit Agreett) with Bank of America,
N.A. (“Bank of America”) for a two -year, $50.0 millioresured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving @it Facility”). The agreement
includes a maximum $7.0 million sublimit for a edwan facility and a $10.0 million sublimit for thigsuance of letters of credit. The maturity
date of the Revolving Credit Facility has been edtal to September 30, 2013. Borrowings under theRing Credit Facility shall be used
towards working capital and other general corpopaiposes as well as for the issuance of lettecsadfit. Loans made under the Revolving
Credit Facility will bear interest at a fluctuatingte based on the London Interbank Offered RatlBOR”) plus an applicable margin, which
will range from 1.75% to 2.75% , based on the Camfsafunded debt ratio. The Company and each ohmpany’s material, wholly-owned
subsidiaries entered into a Security Agreemenavioif of Bank of America (the “Security AgreemenPlursuant to the Security Agreement,
obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility aexured by a security interest in substantiallpfathe Company’s assets.

Under the terms of the Revolving Credit Facilitye tCompany is restricted from paying dividends iacdrring certain indebtedness,
among other restrictive covenants. The Companyimoes to be in full compliance with all covenantsiined in the Revolving Credit
Facility.

As of June 30, 2013, €1.5 million (or approximat®2.0 million ) is outstanding under the termshaf Company’s Revolving Credit
Facility.

The Company maintains letters of credit in liewsefurity deposits with respect to certain officskes as well as to satisfy performance
guarantees under certain contracts. As of Jun2QB®B , $3.6 million in letters of credit were oatsding, leaving $6.4 million available for
additional letters of credit. These letters of drethy be reduced periodically provided the Compareets the conditional criteria of each
related lease agreement.
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7. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

In addition to equipment financed through capialdes, the Company is obligated under various meetable operating leases for off
facilities and equipment. These leases generatlyige for renewal options and escalation incredSesire minimum payments under
noncancelable lease agreements with initial terhosie year or more are as follows:

(In thousands)

2013% 4,55¢
2014 9,54
2015 9,65¢
2016 9,74¢
2017 9,58¢
Thereafter 36,77
Total minimum lease payments $ 79,85¢

Total rent expense, under non-cancellable oper#tages, was $2.2 million and $4.4 million for theee and six months ended June 30,
2013, respectively, and $2.1 million and $3.9 ignillfor the three and six months ended June 3@ 2@%&pectively.

Contingencies

During the three months ended June 30, 2013 thep@nynsettled certain patent litigation lawsuits the initiated against certain third-
parties. The Company recognized a net gain of §illlibn during the three months ended June 30, 2@k8ed to these settlements.

On August 23, 2011, the Company received noticeNtike Harris and Jeff Dunstan, individually and loehalf of a class of similarly
situated individuals, filed a lawsuit against then@pany in the United States District Court for Marthern District of lllinois, Eastern Divisic
alleging, among other things, violations by the @amy of the Stored Communications Act, the Eleégr@ommunications Privacy Act,
Computer Fraud and Abuse Act and the lllinois ComsuFraud and Deceptive Practices Act as well asstienrichment. The complaint seeks
unspecified damages, including statutory damagesipkation and punitive damages, injunctive rebefd reasonable attorneys’ fees of the
plaintiffs. In October 2012, the plaintiffs filecdh@mended complaint which, among other things, vemdhe claim relating to alleged violatic
of the lllinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive PcastiAct. On April 2, 2013, the District Court isdusn order certifying a class for only three
of the four claims, refusing to certify a class tmjust enrichment. Merits based discovery is mwdg and expected to continue through
calendar year 2013. Based on examination of thaireng claims, the Company believes that they atleout merit. The Company continues
to investigate the claims and intends to vigorogsbtect and defend itself. It is not possibletfar Company to estimate a potential range of
loss at this time.

From time to time, the Company is exposed to asdemd unasserted potential claims encounterdaindrmal course of business.
Although the outcome of any legal proceeding caiegpredicted with certainty, management beliekiasthe final outcome and resolution of
these matters will not materially affect the Comyartonsolidated financial position or results pegations.

8. Income Taxes

The Company’s income tax provision for interim pels is calculated by applying its estimated aneffattive tax rate on ordinary
income before taxes to year-to-date ordinary backmne before taxesThe income tax effects of any extraordinary, sigaifit unusual or
infrequent items not included in ordinary book inmare determined separately and recognized ipetied in which the items arise.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 20#8Company recorded an income tax provisiorfld million and $3.5 million
resulting in a effective tax rates of 143.4% an8.8% , respectively. During the three and six msmhded June 30, 2012 , the Company
recorded income tax provisions of $0.1 million &1d2 million resulting in effective tax rates ofi2 and 21.2% , respectively. These effective
tax rates differ from the Federal statutory rat8%%6 primarily due to the effects of valuation alamces associated with foreign losses, state
income taxes, foreign income taxes, nondeductikpeleses such as certain stock compensation and aredlentertainment, unrecognized tax
benefits and changes in statutory tax rates wihick éffect during the year.
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The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during thiedtand six months ended June 30,
2013 and 2012, generated income tax deductiond tmjtree excess of the fair market value over tker@se price or grant date fair value, as
applicable. The Company will not recognize a deféiiax asset with respect to the excess of tax @k stock compensation deductions unti
the tax deductions actually reduce its currentdgayable. As such, the Company has not recordedfeared tax asset in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements related to ththtiadial net operating losses generated from thifail tax deductions associated with the
exercise of these stock options and the vestinggificted stock awards. If and when the Compaifiges these net operating losses to reduce
income taxes payable, the tax benefit will be rdedras an increase in additional paid-in capital.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 26&8ain stock options were exercised and cestaames related to restricted stock
awards vested at times when the Company’s stock pras substantially lower than the fair valuehafse shares at the time of grant. As a
result, the income tax deduction related to suelteshis less than the expense previously recogfizdabok purposes. Such shortfalls reduce
additional paid-in capital to the extent windfalktbenefits have been previously recognized. A3eafember 31, 2012, the Company did not
have additional paid-in capital related to windfak benefits. As such, shortfalls of $0.1 milliamd $1.0 million have been included in income
tax expense for the three and six months ended3wr2013 , respectively. During the three andwsinths ended June 30, 2012, $0.0 million
and $0.1 million of shortfalls reduced additionalgin capital and $0.1 million and $0.3 milliontbie shortfalls was included in income tax
expense.

As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the @oypad a valuation allowance related to the dedetax assets of certain foreign
subsidiaries (primarily net operating loss carryfards) that are either loss companies or are in skart-up phases, the U.S. capital loss
carryforwards and certain state net operating dass/forwards. Management will continue to evaluhe Company’s deferred tax position of
its U.S. and foreign companies throughout 201 3eteminine the appropriate level of valuation alloe&nequired against its deferred tax as

As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the @nynpad unrecognized tax benefits of approximakély million . The Company
recognizes accrued interest and penalties relatedrecognized tax benefits in income tax expeAseaf June 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012, the amount of accrued interest and penaltiamrecognized tax benefits was approximately $allfon .

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incdaxereturns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction aadous state and foreign jurisdictions.
For income tax returns filed by the Company, thenfany is no longer subject to U.S. Federal exanuinatby tax authorities for years before
2009 or state and local examinations by tax auibsrfor years before 2008 although tax attribateydorwards generated prior to these years
may still be adjusted upon examination by tax atities.

9. Stockholders’ Equity
1999 Stock Option Plan and 2007 Equity IncentiveaRl

Prior to the effective date of the registratiortestaent for the Company’s initial public offering?O”) on June 26, 2007, eligible
employees and non-employees were awarded optigng¢thase shares of the Company’s common stodkicted stock or restricted stock
units pursuant to the Company’s 1999 Stock Plam ‘(#8999 Plan”). Upon the effective date of the séigition statement of the CompasyPO,
the Company ceased using the 1999 Plan for thansguof new equity awards. Upon the closing of@bepany’s IPO on July 2, 2007, the
Company established its 2007 Equity Incentive Pdsramended (the “2007 Plan” and together withll 889 Plan, the “Plans”). The 1999 Plan
will continue to govern the terms and condition®ofstanding awards granted thereunder, but nbdughares are authorized for new awards
under the 1999 Plan. As of June 30, 2013 and DeeeB1h 2012 , the Plans provided for the issuafieensaximum of approximately 9.9
million shares and 8.5 million shares, respectivef)common stock. In addition, the 2007 Plan paesifor annual increases in the number of
shares available for issuance thereunder on thtedfity of each fiscal year beginning with the 2068&al year, equal to the lesser of: (i) 4% of
the outstanding shares of the Company’s commork tio¢he last day of the immediately precedingdigear; (i) 1,800,000 shares; or
(iii) such other amount as the CompaniBoard of Directors may determine. The vestingooeof options granted under the Plans is deterd
by the Board of Directors, although, for servicedxh options the vesting has historically been gdiyenatable over a four -year period.
Options generally expire 10 years from the datiefgrant. Effective January 1, 2013, the sharasable for grant increased by 1,427,177
pursuant to the automatic share reserve increasésfm under the Plans. Accordingly, as of Jung2813 , a total of 3,218,714 shares were
available for future grant under the 2007 Plan.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock opdiwards using the Black-Scholes option-pricingnfiola and a single option award
approach. The Company then amortizes the fair vaflasvards expected to vest on a ratable straight-|
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basis over the requisite service periods of therdsyavhich is generally the period from the graatiedto the end of the vesting period.

A summary of the Plans is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Number of Exercise Term Value (in
Shares Price (in years) thousands)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2012 90,55: $ 4.3¢ 2.99 851
Options granted —  $ —
Options exercised (22,167 $ 412 311
Options forfeited —  $ —
Options expired (255 $ 9.7t
Options outstanding and exercisable at June 3@ 201 68,13¢ $ 4.4t 2.48 1,35¢

The intrinsic value of exercised stock optionsékalated based on the difference between the isggpcice and the quoted market price
of the Company’s common stock as of the close ®&ttercise date. The aggregate intrinsic valuefitions outstanding and exercisable is
calculated as the difference between the exercise pf the underlying stock option awards anddgheted market price of the Company’s
common stock at June 30, 2013 . As of June 30, 2€Hs&e is no unrecognized compensation expetetedeo non-vested stock options
granted prior to that date. The Company’s nonvestieck awards are comprised of restricted stockrastiicted stock units. The Company ha:s
a right of repurchase on such shares that lapseadé of twenty-five percent (25)% of the totauses awarded at each successive anniversar
of the initial award date, provided that the empleygontinues to provide services to the Companthdrevent that an employee terminates
their employment with the Company, any sharesrératin unvested and consequently subject to ti oifgrepurchase shall be automatically
reacquired by the Company at the original purclpaiee paid by the employee. During the three moetited June 30, 2013, 21,920 forfeited
shares of restricted stock have been repurchasttebyompany at no cost.

A summary of the status for nonvested stock awasdsf June 30, 2013 is presented as follows:

Weighted
Total Number Average
Restricted of Shares Grant-Date
Restricted Stock Underlying Fair
Nonvested Stock Awards Stock Units Awards Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 1,969,71 466,82« 2,436,53 $ 20.8:
Granted 404,92: 887,67: 1,292,59. 18.6¢
Vested (979,75 (157,10 (1,136,85) 17.6¢
Forfeited (174,74 (123,969 (298,711 21.1¢
Nonvested at June 30, 2013 1,220,13! 1,073,42! 2,293,561 $ 21.1:

The aggregate intrinsic value for all non-vestearsh of restricted stock and restricted stock unitstanding as of June 30, 2013 was
$55.9 million .

As of June 30, 2013, total unrecognized compems&xpense related to non-vested restricted stodkestricted stock units was $32.4
million , which the Company expects to recognizeraw weighted-average period of approximately ly2érs. Total unrecognized
compensation expense may be increased or decrieafsgdre periods for subsequent grants or forfeiu

Of the 57,712 shares of the Company’s restrictecksind restricted stock units vesting during tiree months ended June 30, 2013
Company repurchased 20,799 shares at an aggregateape price of approximately $0.4 million purduarthe stockholder’s right under the
Plans to elect to use common stock to satisfy téixhelding obligations.
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Shares Reserved for Issuan

At June 30, 2013, the Company had reserved fardussuance the following shares of common stadauhe exercise of options:

Common stock available for future issuances unttePians 3,218,71
Common stock reserved for outstanding options astticted stock units 1,141,56.
4,360,27!

10.  Share Repurchases

On June 3, 2013 the Company announced that itsllwdatirectors had approved the repurchase of @d@million of the Company's
common stock. Such repurchases may be made froetéitime subject to pre-determined price and velgmidelines established by the
Company's board of directors.

As part of the share repurchase program, sharesompyrchased in open market transactions or porso@ny trading plan that may be
adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the EmghaAct. The timing, manner, price and amount gfr@purchases will be determined at
the Company's discretion, and the share repurgivaggam may be suspended, terminated or modifiedyatime for any reason. Shares
repurchased are classified as Treasury Stock asdpted as a deduction from Stockholder's Equagh@aid for share repurchases for the
three months ended June 30, 2013, under the rg@mnibunced share repurchase program, was as follow

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013

(Amounts in millions, except share and per shata)da

Total number of shares repurchased 23,437
Average price paid per share $21.11
Total share repurchases $0.5
11. Geographic Information

The Company attributes revenues to customers lmas#te location of the customer. The compositiothefCompany’s sales to
unaffiliated customers between those in the Unitdes and those in other locations for the thnelesix months ended June 30, 2@t@ 201:
is set forth below:

Three months ended June 30, Six months ended June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(In thousands)

United States $ 49,45¢ $ 42,44¢ $ 98,01f $ 88,52¢
Europe 11,65¢ 10,58¢ 23,92 20,91
Canada 3,15¢ 2,81¢ 6,35¢ 5,507
Other 5,641 4,437 10,46: 7,61¢
Total Revenues $ 69,91: $ 60,29: $ 138,75¢ $ 122,56t
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The composition of the Compasyproperty and equipment between those in the didtates and those in other countries as of thet
each period is set forth below:

June 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

(In thousands)
United States $ 27,75. % 24,81(
Europe 4,86¢ 5,47
Canada 28¢ 291
Other 78¢ 84C
Total $ 33,69t $ 31,41¢
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ITEM 2. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relatet@s to those statements included elsewhere iiésterly Report on Form 10-Q . In
addition to historical financial information, thelfowing discussion and analysis contains forwasdking statements that involve risks,
uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual resulits Bming of selected events may differ materifatiyn those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of many factorduding those discussed under “Risk factors” anceellere in this document. See also
“Cautionary Note Concerning Forward-Looking Staterts# at the beginning of this Quarterly Report oarfh 10-Q.

Overview

We provide leading, on-demand digital analytics #reable our customers to make well-informed, dizigen decisions and implement
more effective digital business strategies. MomcHjrally, we are an Internet technology compdmt imeasures what people do as they
navigate the digital world, and we turn that infation into insights and actions for our clientsgrtaximize the value of their digital
investments. One of the key elements of our pradisobur ability to effectively combine our progeggy comScore data (which we obtain via
our global panel and census network) with our ¢ieown data. Our products provide our custometis deep insight into consumer behavior,
including objective, detailed information regardingage of their online properties and those of tt@npetitors, coupled with information on
consumer demographic characteristics, attitudiestjiles and offline behavior. In addition, we offeobile operator analytics products that
provide comprehensive marketing and customer eaiglit to the various mobile carriers worldwide ring the three months ended June 30,
2013, we provided services to over 2,200 customertdwide with our broad geographic base of emeésylocated in 32 locations in 23
countries.

We deliver our products on-demand using our digitahsurement and analytics platforms, which arepcised of proprietary databases,
internally developed software, and a computatiémfahstructure that measures, analyzes and reporthgital activity. Our scalable, Software-
as-a-Service, or SaaS, delivery model, elimindtesieed for our customers to install and maintainchivare and software in order to use our
products. Our products are hosted and maintainadpyhich significantly reduces the cost and caxip} for our customers relative to
traditional software products and provides sigaificoperating efficiencies. We can quickly deploypdate our products with minimal to no
lead time, which significantly enhances our cust@aheroductivity. We offer our products as a sulgton-based service for which our
customers pay a recurring fee during the subsoriggrm.

Our digital media measurement and analytics platéoare comprised of proprietary databases and auwational infrastructure that
measures, analyzes and reports on digital activatfdwide. The foundation of our platform is datadlected from our comScore panel of
approximately two million Internet users worldwigkao have granted us explicit permission to confiddély measure their Internet usage
patterns, online and certain offline buying behawind other activities. By applying advanced stiatié methodologies to our panel data, we
project consumersinline behavior for the total online population anaiide variety of user categories. This panelrimfation is complemente
by our Unified Digital Measuremeritmethodology which enables us to more accuratelysoreadigital audiences. Our Unified Digital
Measurement approach blends panel and census ro&dis into products that provide a direct linkagel reconciliation between census
panel measurement. Our tagged network of globakiteband apps is referred to as the comScore €&tework™ , which has been built
with a substantial infrastructure and technologt firocesses over 1.6 trillion events per montHdwide. We also provide products to the
large mobile networks that deliver network analysiused on the experience of wireless subscribsraell as network intelligence with
respect to performance, capacity and configuraimadytics. We also provide digital (web, apps, vidgaming, and other digital assets) and
monetization analytics and innovative video measemg products.

We deliver our Analytics for a Digital Worldthrough a wide array of products organized arotneddllowing four major suites:
audience analytics, advertising analytics, digitadiness analytics and mobile operator analytics.aDdience analytics products deliver digita
media intelligence by providing an independentgdigarty measurement of the size, behavior andachenistics of Internet users on multiple
devices, such as TVs, PCs, smartphones and taisletsll as insight into the effectiveness of onkeertising. Our core product offerings are
built around our Media MetriX product, but also include Video Metri% Mobile Metrix™, Plan Metrix™ and Ad Metrix™. As the Internet
evolves, we are continually creating new solutigugh as Social Essentials, which provides insigbtthe audience size, composition,
behavior and brand engagement of consumers rebghe@nds on Facebook. We typically deliver ourience analytics products
electronically in the form of weekly, monthly orayterly subscription based reports. Customers ce@sa current and historical data and
analyze this data anytime online.
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Our advertising analytics products combine the pedary information gathered from our comScore @esridetwork with the vertical
industry expertise of comScore analysts to deliligital marketing intelligence, including the meesuent of online advertising effectiveness,
customized for specific industries. Our advertisamglytics products include the AdEffksuite Media Planner 2.0and validated Campaign
Essentials”, which provide a solution for developing, execgtand evaluating online advertising campaigns acnagtiple platforms,
including TV, Web (Display and Video) and Mobilenf&rtphones and Tablets). In August 2011, we acduiaXpose, which provides
advertisers and publishers with greater transpgrenthe quality, safety, and performance of tlufigital advertising campaigns by allowing
them to verify and optimize billions of campaigrtalaoints captured in real-time. The combinatioMdKpose with our Campaign Essentials
product has enabled us to develop a new producefeeto as validated Campaign Essentials, or w@iich provides intelligence regarding
validated impressions, ads that are actually sgfeawn in safe content and delivered to the riglyeieaudience. Our advertising analytics
products are typically delivered on a monthly, geidy or ad hoc basis.

Our digital business analytics products help orzmions optimize the customer experience on thgitadl assets (websites, apps, video,
etc.) and maximize return on digital media investtady allowing marketers to collect, view and wistte information tailored to their speci
business requirements. Our digital business awalpiatform is designed to integrate data from iplgltsources including web, mobile, video
and social media interactions. Our digital busiresalytics services are provided primarily throjpital Analytix ™ our SaaS based product
that enables our customers to have access to théofproprietary click stream data. Our digitakmess analytics platform is further enhancec
by data obtained as part of our audience measutegfferts, and viewable on a quick turnaround haSisstomers can access our digital
business analytics data sets and reports anytifireeon

Our mobile operator analytics products suite cotmembile behavior, content merchandising, andategapabilities to provide
comprehensive mobile market intelligence to mobéeiers worldwide. Our core software product, Suiber Analytix™, powered by
XPLORE™, provides mobile carriers with information on netw optimization and capacity planning, customegegience, and market
intelligence. Our mobile operator analytics platfias designed to integrate data from multiple sesiiacluding web and mobile interactions a:
well as customer relationship management, callezaarid back office systems. Customers can accesaahile and network data sets and
reports anytime online via our software-based @ejiplatform.

Brief Company History

Our company was founded in August 1999. In 2007¢arapleted our initial public offering. We have galemented our internal
development initiatives with targeted acquisitioimsFebruary 2010, we acquired the outstandingkstb@ARSgroup, Inc. to expand our ability
to provide our customers with actionable informatio improve their creative and strategic messatingeted to specific audiences. In
July 2010, we acquired the outstanding stock ofildgXnc., a provider of software products to thegé mobile networks that deliver network
analysis focused on the experience of wirelesscsiltess, as well as network intelligence with regpe performance, capacity and
configuration analytics. In August 2010, we acqditiee outstanding stock of Nedstat B.V., a proviafeveb analytics and innovative video
measurement products based in Amsterdam, Nethetléméugust 2011, we acquired all of the outstagdiquity of AdXpose, Inc., a provic
of digital advertising analytics products base&@attle, Washington. In the first quarter of 20X¥3ssld certain assets related to the ARS Non
Health Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking business.

Since our initial public offering in 2007, our rewees and expenses have grown significantly. Wibaté the growth in our revenue and
expenses primarily to:

» increased sales to existing customers, as & mFsaur efforts to deepen our relationships vitiese customers by increasing their
awareness of, and confidence in, the value of mitatimarketing intelligence platform;

» growth in our customer base through the additionavf customers and from acquired busine

» the sales of new products to existing and new costs; an

» growth in sales outside of the U.S., as a resudndéring into new international mark

As a result of economic events such as the glabah€ial crisis in the credit markets, softnesthmhousing markets, difficulties in the
financial services sector, political uncertaintyttie Middle East, and concerns regarding the emezte direction and relative strength of the
U.S. and global economies have become somewhattaimci recent periods. During 2011 and 2012rratéd number of our current and
potential customers ceased, delayed or reducewvegnef existing subscriptions and purchases of oeadditional services and products,
presumably due to the economic downturn. Furthetam of our existing customers exited the madket to industry consolidation and
bankruptcy in connection with these challengingneenic conditions. Since these negative economiateveegan in 2008, we continued to
net new customers each year and our existing cesoranewed their subscriptions at a rate of 00&6 Based on dollars renewed each year.
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Notwithstanding our performance during these mamwoemic trends, if economic recovery slows or ecoicaconditions deteriorate, o
operating results could be adversely affected ming periods.

Our Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from the fees thatcharge for subscriptidmased products, customized projects, and softi@ades
We define subscription-based revenues as revehaewé generate from products that we deliver¢asaomer on a recurring basis, as well as
arrangements where a customer is committing up-tmpurchase a series of deliverables over tinféghvincludes revenue from software
licenses as further discussed below. We defineeptogvenues as revenues that we generate frowntiasd projects that are performed for a
specific customer on a non-recurring basis. A siggut characteristic of our SaaS-based busineskehi® our large percentage of subscription
based contracts. Subscription-based revenues aecbion 86% and 85% of total revenues in the sixithe ended June 30, 2013 and the full
year2012 , respectively. Many of our customers whaatit purchased a customized project have subsélyysurchased one of our
subscription-based products. Similarly, many of sulsscription-based customers have subsequentthased additional customized projects.

Historically, we have generated most of our reverfuem the sale and delivery of our products to panies and organizations located
within the United States. We intend to expand aternational revenues by selling our products aplaying our direct sales force model in
additional international markets in the future. B year ended December 31, 2012 , our interreti@venues were $71.8 million, an increas
of $11.8 million, or 20% over international revesu $60.0 million for the year ended December2®1,1 . For the six months ended June 3C
2013, our international revenues were $40.8 mnillian increase of $6.7 million , or 20% over intgional revenues of $34.1 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2012 . Internationalmes® comprised approximately 29% , 28% and 26%uofaial revenues for the six months
ended June 30, 2013 and for the fiscal years eDdedmber 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

We anticipate that revenues from our U.S. customé@tgontinue to constitute a substantial portafrour revenues in coming periods,
but we expect that revenues from customers outditlee U.S. will increase as a percentage of t@atnues as we build greater international
recognition of our brand and expand our sales ¢ipasaglobally.

Subscription Revenue

We generate a significant portion of our subsaripihased revenues from our Media Metrix produdestroducts within the Media
Metrix suite include Media Metrix 360, Media MetriRlan Metrix, World Metrix, Video Metrix and Ad Miex. These product offerings
provide subscribers with intelligence on digitaldizeusage, audience characteristics, audience degtugs and online and offline purchasing
behavior. Customers who subscribe to our Media iMptoducts are provided with login IDs to our wate, have access to our database and
can generate reports anytime.

We also generate subscription-based revenues feotairc reports and analyses provided through ostioouer research products, if that
work is procured by customers on a recurring bagisough our customer research products, we dedilggtal marketing intelligence relating
to specific industries, such as automotive, consyraekaged goods, entertainment, financial seryioeslia, pharmaceutical, retail,
technology, telecommunications and travel. Thiskating intelligence leverages our global consunzargband extensive database to deliver
information unique to a particular customer’s needs recurring schedule, as well as on a contiacedss basis. Our Marketing Solutions
customer agreements typically include a fixed féa an initial term of at least one year. We alsovide these products on a non-subscription
basis as described under “Project Revenues” below.

In addition, we generate subscription-based reve@froen survey products that we sell to our cust@nler conducting our surveys, we
generally use our global Internet user panel. Adtezstionnaires are distributed to the panel mesndned completed, we compile their
responses and then deliver our findings to theoowst, who also has ongoing access to the survppmee data as they are compiled and
updated over time. This data includes responsesémunation collected from the actual survey gigstaires and can also include behaviora
information that we passively collect from our plste. If a customer has a history of purchasimyey products in each of the last four
guarters, we believe this indicates the survey$aiteg conducted on a recurring basis, and weifjfabe revenues generated from such su
products as subscriptidmsed revenues. Our contracts for survey serwpasally include a fixed fee with terms that rarfgam two months t
one year.

Our acquisition of Nedstat resulted in additiorelanue sources, including software subscripticersies calls, and professional services
(including training and consulting). Our arrangesegenerally contain multiple elements, consisththe various service offerings. Our
acquisition of AdXpose, resulted in additional newe sources, including fees for the use of the Ambé¢mplatform. Fees for the use of the
AdXpose platform are generally a fixed fee for eaojression that is generated using the AdXpoden@ogy. Revenue is recognized on a
usage basis when the impression is delivered guttesl via the AdXpose service portal.
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Project Revenue

We generate project revenues by providing custagriiz®rmation reports to our customers on a nonmraug basis through comScore
Marketing Solutions. For example, a customer inntfeglia industry might request a custom reporthatiles the behavior of the customer’s
active online users and contrasts their marketeshad loyalty with similar metrics for a competisoonline user base. If this customer
continues to request the report beyond an initiajget term of at least nine months and entersantagreement to purchase the report on a
recurring basis, we begin to classify these futax@nues as subscription-based.

Software License

We generate subscription revenue through softweeades, professional services (including softveaistomization, implementation,
training and consulting services), and maintenamzktechnical support contracts. We recognize soéwcense arrangements that include
significant modification and customization of thedtevare in accordance with FASB Accounting StandaCddification (“ASC”") 985-605,
Software Recognitionand ASC 605-3Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Certadalction-Type Contractsusing either
percentage-of-completion or the completed-contraethod. Under the percentage-of-completion mettieCompany uses the input method
to measure progress, which is based on the ratosi$ incurred to date to total estimated costemipletion. The percentage-of-completion
method is used when reliable estimates of progredsompletion under the contract can be made. tthdecompleted-contract method,
billings and costs (to the extent they are recdde)aare accumulated on the balance sheet, butaiib @r income is recorded before user
acceptance of the software license. The completettact method is used when reliable estimatesatdsemade or other terms under the
contract require it. To the extent estimated castsexpected to exceed revenue, the Company adoruassts immediately.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caodiand results of operations are based on ourotidased financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. gep@edlepted accounting principles. The preparatfdhese financial statements requires us
to make estimates, assumptions and judgmentsffeat the amounts reported in our consolidatedrioia statements and the accompanying
notes. We base our estimates on historical expsriand on various other assumptions that we belgele reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from theseémates.

Management considers an accounting policy to bieakif it is important to our financial conditicand results of operations, and if it
requires significant judgment and estimates orptré of management in its application. The develepinand selection of these critical
accounting policies have been determined by ourag@ment. Due to the significant judgment involuedelecting certain of the assumptions
used in these areas, it is possible that diffgrarties could choose different assumptions anchrdéferent conclusions. Our critical
accounting policies relates to: (a) revenue redamni(b) fair value measurements; (c) businesshinations; (d) goodwill and intangible
assets; (e) long-lived assets; (f) allowance fartdful accounts; (g) income taxes; and (h) stockeldacompensation.

Our significant accounting policies are describedore detail in the notes to our consolidatedrfoia statements included in Iltem 1 of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in Item &wof Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year enBedember 31, 2012 . For a discussion
of our critical accounting policies and estimatese “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimateglided in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2012 under théocalglanagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finaln€ondition and Results of
Operations.

Seasonality

Historically, a slightly higher percentage of ousstomers have renewed their subscription produitksug during the fourth quarter than
in other quarters.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidagatements of operations data as a percentdageabfevenues for each of the periods
indicated.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Revenues 100.C% 100.C % 100.C % 100.C %
Cost of revenues 30.¢ 33.¢ 31.¢ 33.:
Selling and marketing 36.t 36.¢ 36.C 35.€
Research and development 14.C 13.7 14.2 13.2
General and administrative 16.1 16.1 14.¢ 15.4
Amortization of intangible assets 2.€ 3.6 2.¢ 3.6
Impairment of intangible assets — 5.€ — 2.7
Gain on asset disposition — — (0.2 —
Settlement of litigation 1.7 — (0.7) —
Total expenses from operations 98.¢€ 109.¢ 98.¢ 104.1
Income from operations 1.4 (9.9 1.2 (4.7
Interest and other (expense), net (0.2 0.3 (0.2 (0.3
Loss from foreign currency 0.1 (0.5) (0.2 (0.5)
Income before income tax (provision) benefit 1.2 (20.7) 0.€ 4.9
Income tax (provision) benefit (1.9 0.3 (2.5 (1.0
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhidde 0.6)% (11.0% 1.7% (5.9%

Three and Six Months period ended June 30, 2013 @aned to the Three and Six Months period ended Jute 2012
Revenues

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, Change June 30, Change
2013 2012 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Revenues $ 69,91: $ 60,29 $ 9,62( 16.(% $ 138,75¢ $ 12256t $ 16,19: 13.2%

Total revenues increased by approximately $9.6anill or approximately 16.0% , during the three therended June 30, 2013 as
compared to the three months ended June 30, 20E2attribute the revenue growth to increased gtalesir existing customer base coupled
with a slight increase in revenue from new cust@nBevenue from existing customers increased $8li@mfrom $53.7 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2012 to $62.5 million forttinee months ended June 30, 2013, while revene fiew customers increased $0.8
million from $6.6 million for the three months embléune 30, 2012 to $7.4 million for the three merghded June 30, 2013 .

We experienced continued growth in subscriptiorenexes, which increased by approximately $7.7 mildaring the three months ended
June 30, 2013, from $51.8 million in the prioaygeriod. We also experienced growth in our ptajegenues, which increased by
approximately $1.9 million during the three mongmsled June 30, 2013, from $8.5 million in the pyear period.

Revenues from U.S customers were $49.4 milliortHerthree months ended June 30, 2013, or apprtedynél % of total revenues,
while revenues from customers outside of the U& $20.5 million for the three months ended Jun@B03 , or approximately 29% of total
revenues. Our focus on organic growth efforts tarmational markets resulted in a $2.7 million e@ase in international revenues during the
three months ended June 30, 2013 as compared poiting/ear period, comprised primarily of increseé $1.1 million in Europe, $0.7 million
in Asia, $0.3 million in Canada and $0.5 millionliatin America.

Total revenues increased by approximately $16.Rami| or approximately 13.2% , during the six mtonended June 30, 2013 as
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2012atieute the revenue growth to increased salesit@xisting
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customer base coupled with a slight increase ismeg from new customers. Revenue from existingoousts increased $13.4 million from
$109.9 million for the six months ended June 30,2® $123.3 million for the six months ended J88e2013 , while revenue from new
customers increased $2.8 million from $12.7 millfonthe six months ended June 30, 2012 to $15llfomfor the six months ended June 30,
2013 .

We experienced continued growth in subscriptiorenexes, which increased by approximately $14.8 anilduring the six months ended
June 30, 2013, from $104.2 million in the prieay period. We also experienced growth in our ptajevenues, which increased by
approximately $1.4 million during the six monthsled June 30, 2013, from $18.4 million in the pyiear period.

Revenues from U.S customers were $98.0 milliortHersix months ended June 30, 2013, or approxiynalés of total revenues, while
revenues from customers outside of the U.S. was3%#0lion for the six months ended June 30, 20@Bapproximately 29%f total revenue:
Our focus on organic growth efforts in internatibmearkets resulted in a $6.7 million increase iinational revenues during the six months
ended June 30, 2013 as compared to the prior weadp comprised primarily of increases of $3.0lial in Europe, $1.6 million in Asia, $0.9
million in Canada and $1.0 million in Latin America

Operating Expenses

The majority of our operating expenses consisngbleyee salaries and related benefits, stock cosgiiem expense, professional fees,
rent and other facility related costs, depreciagmpense, and amortization and impairment of aeduimtangible assets. Our single largest
operating expense relates to our people. In omefféctively motivate our employees and to provtiem with proper longerm incentives, w
pay the vast majority of our annual bonus arranggsgsing our common stock. In addition, threewfrmost senior executives, including our
Chief Executive Officer, have agreed to receivaahaf our common stock instead of a cash salary.

Our total operating expenses increased by appraglyn$2.7 million, or approximately 4%, during ttteee months ended June 30, 2013
as compared to the three months ended June 30, PRik2ncrease is primarily attributable to insed expenditures for employee salaries,
benefits and related costs of $2.5 million assediatith our increased headcount, increased conmnssf $1.9 million associated with our
increased level of bookings, increased professifaga of $1.1 million, an increase of $0.8 milli@iated to the usage of third-party providers
for support related to our data collection eff@tsl increased stock compensation of $0.8 millidre ihcreases were partially offset by a net
gain related to the settlements of certain patggation lawsuits of $1.2 million, decrease in atimation expense of $0.4 million and a
decrease related to an impairment charge of $3I®mihat was recorded in 2012.

Our total operating expenses increased by apprdazlyn®9.6 million, or approximately 8%, during thie months ended June 30, 201:
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2012.iftriease is primarily attributable to increasegeaditures for employee salaries, benefit:
and related costs of $6.8 million associated withincreased headcount, increased commissions.4frillion associated with our increased
level of bookings, increased rent and other facdit facility related costs and depreciation exgenis$1.2 million, increased professional fees
of $1.5 million, increased panel recruitment cast$0.7 million associated with new panels in th€ &hd Spain, an increase of $1.0 million
related to the usage of third-party providers fgoort related to our data collection efforts ametéased stock compensation of $0.7 million.
The increases were partially offset by a gain egldb the settlements of certain patent litigatamsuits of $1.2 million, decrease in
amortization expense of $0.5 million and a decreaksted to an impairment charge of $3.3 millicattivas recorded in 2012.

Cost of Revenues

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, Change June 30, Change
2013 2012 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Cost of revenues $ 2161C $ 20,37 $ 1,23¢ 6.1% $ 44,16 $ 40,77: $ 3,39 8.2%
As a percentage of revenues 30.% 33.&% 31.&% 33.%

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expensegded|to operating our network infrastructure, pdg our products, and the
recruitment, maintenance and support of our conspaugels. Expenses associated with these areaslénttie salaries, stock-based
compensation, and related personnel expenseswbrkebperations, survey operations, custom analyiad technical support, all of which are
expensed as they are incurred. Cost of revenuesnalsides data collection costs for
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our products, operational costs associated wittdata centers, including depreciation expense ggsdowvith computer equipment that
supports our panel and systems, and allocated eadrhvhich is comprised of rent and other facsitielated costs, and depreciation expense
generated by general purpose equipment and software

Cost of revenues increased by approximately $1libmduring the three months ended June 30, 2@h3pared to the three months
ended June 30, 2012 . This increase is primatifipatable to an increase of $0.8 million relatedhe usage of third-party providers for
support related to our data collection efforts ameased rent and other facility or facility reldtcosts and depreciation expense of $0.3
million.

Cost of revenues increased by approximately $3ldbmduring the six months ended June 30, 2013pared to the six months ended
June 30, 2012 . This increase is primarily attidble to an increase of $1.0 million related toukage of third-party providers for support
related to our data collection efforts, increasgueaditures for employee salaries, benefits aratedicosts of $0.6 million associated with our
increased headcount, increased panel recruitmstg 06$0.7 million associated with new panelshim YK and Spain, increased stock
compensation of $0.3 million and severance cos§Odf million.

Cost of revenues decreased as a percentage oliesyduaring the three and six months ended Jun203@, as compared to the same
periods in 2012, due to increased operating leerag

Selling and Marketing Expense

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, Change June 30, Change
2013 2012 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Selling and marketing $ 2549. $ 22,23 $ 3,25¢ 14€% $ 4994¢ $ 4358 $ 6,36¢ 14.€%
As a percentage of revenues 36.5% 36.% 36.(% 35.6%

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgatéries, benefits, commissions, bonuses, an#-bi@mged compensation paid to our
direct sales force and industry analysts, as veetiosts related to online and offline advertisingustry conferences, promotional materials,
public relations, other sales and marketing prograand allocated overhead, which is comprisedrifard other facilities related costs, and
depreciation expense generated by general purgosgneent and software. All selling and marketingtsaare expensed as they are incurred.
Commission plans are developed for our account gemsawith criteria and size of sales quotas that dapending upon the individual’s role.
Commissions are expensed as selling and marketistg when a sales contract is executed by botoustemer and us. Selling and marketing
expenses have increased because we have beetimgdiari additional salespeople in order to supjdrnational growth, especially in our
DAXx and vCE product offerings.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $3l®mduring the three months ended June 30, 2@h3pared to the three months
ended June 30, 2012 . This increase is primaritibatable to increased commissions of $1.9 millimsociated with our increased level of
bookings and increases in employee salaries, lisraefi related costs of $1.0 million.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $dl&mduring the six months ended June 30, 2013pamed to the six months ended
June 30, 2012 . This increase is primarily attidbig to increased employee salaries, benefitselated costs of $2.8 million associated with
our increased salesforce, increased commissio$2.4fmillion associated with our increased levabobkings and increased stock-based
compensation of $0.8 million.

Selling and marketing expenses remained relativehstant as a percentage of revenues during tee &md six months ended June 30,
2013 as compared to the same period in 2012.

Research and Development Expent

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, Change June 30, Change
2013 2012 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Research and development $ 980 $ 8267 $ 1,53¢ 18.€% $ 20,02¢ $ 16,30¢ $ 3,72 22.8%
As a percentage of revenues 14.(% 13.7% 14.4% 13.2%
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Research and development expenses include newqtrdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of dalrbenefits, stock-based
compensation and related costs for personnel agedaiith research and development activities, jeés to third parties to develop new
products and allocated overhead, which is compii$éednt and other facilities related costs, angréeiation expense generated by general
purpose equipment and software.

Research and development expenses increased $llof ihuring the three months ended June 30, 2@h3pared to the three months
ended June 30, 2012 . This increase is primatilipatable to increased employee salaries, berefitkrelated costs of $1.2 million associated
with a reallocation of resources to focus on theettgpment of new products.

Research and development expenses increased $Bon mhiring the six months ended June 30, 2013pzmed to the six months ended
June 30, 2012 . This increase is primarily attidlbig to increased employee salaries, benefitselated costs of $2.6 million associated with a
reallocation of resources to focus on the develapraénew products.

Research and development expenses increasedysbgtal percentage of revenues for the three andamths ended June 30, 2013 as
compared to the same periods in 2012, due to tirease in the allocation of resources to researdidavelopment activities.

General and Administrative Expenses

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, Change June 30, Change
2013 2012 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
General and administrative$ 11,23¢ $ 9,728 $ 1,51 15.6% $ 20,25 $ 1883: $ 1,41¢ 7.5%
As a percentage of revenues 16.1% 16.1% 14.€% 15.4%

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries, benefits, stock-based compensatind,related expenses for executive
management, finance, accounting, human capitad) krgd other administrative functions, as well adfgssional fees, overhead, including
allocated overhead, which is comprised of rentatheér facilities related costs, and depreciatiopegse generated by general purpose
equipment and software, and expenses incurredlier general corporate purposes.

General and administrative expenses increased Bynfillion during the three months ended June 8Q@32as compared to the three
months ended June 30, 2012 . This increase is plynadtributable to increased professional fee$bfl million and an increase in employee
salaries, benefits and related costs of $0.3 millio

General and administrative expenses increased dyn$illion during the six months ended June 30,3284 compared to the six months
ended June 30, 2012 . This increase is primatitibatable to increased professional fees of $1ilbam.

General and administrative expenses remained curestaa percentage of revenues during the thre¢hsmiended June 30, 2013 as
compared to the same period in 2012. General amihétrative expenses decreased during the sixmsarided June 30, 2013 as compared-
the same period in 2012, due to the accelerateshtevgrowth and increased operating leverage.

Amortization Expense

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, Change June 30, Change
2013 2012 $ % 2013 2012 $ %
(In thousands)
Amortization expense $ 193¢ $ 2302 $ (36€) (15.9% $ 4,087 $ 462: $ (535 (11.9%
As a percentage of revenues 2.8% 3.8% 2.% 3.&%

Amortization expense consists of charges relatedg@mortization of intangible assets associati#i acquisitions.

Amortization expense decreased $0.4 million an8 #tillion during the three and six months endedeJ8®, 2013 , respectively, as
compared to the three and six months ended Jur02@, due principally to the sale of certain inthfegassets associated with the ARS Non-
Health Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking business.
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Gain on Asset Disposition

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, wepbeted the sale of certain assets related to &8 Non-Health Copy-Testing and
Equity Tracking business. In connection with thepdisition, we will receive total proceeds of $1.illiam in cash, with $0.25 million received
at closing on March 18, 2013 and $0.75 million pha escrow, scheduled to be received in threaleguarterly payments beginning June 30
2013 and ending on December 31, 2013. The firstngsy scheduled for June 30, 2013 has been recdivaddition, we entered into a license
agreement in which we will retain the right to tise necessary intellectual property to continugrtvide the ARS Copy-Testing and Equity
Tracking services to our Health related customedsracorded an intangible asset of $1.2 milliorebasn the estimated fair value of the
licensed intellectual property. In determining fai value of the intangible asset, the Companyared a discounted cash flow (“DCF”)
analysis using a combination of income approaahasding the relief from royalty approach and tleess earnings approach. Determining
fair value requires the exercise of significantgogent, including judgments about appropriate distoates, terminal growth rates, royalty r:
and the amount and timing of expected future clstst The cash flows employed in the DCF analysgsanbased on the Company’s most
recent budgets, forecasts and business plans hasagrlowth rate assumptions for years beyond tinest business plan period. Significant
assumptions used include a discount rate of 18v¥ich is based on an assessment of the risk inhréime future revenue streams and cash
flows associated with the health related custoraEARS, as well as a royalty rate of 3.0%, which#sed on an analysis of royalty rates in
similar, market transactions. This intangible aggétbe amortized on a straight-line basis overeastimated useful life of 3 years beginning
April 1, 2013. The assets disposed of included agempequipment, furniture and fixtures, intelled¢tpreoperty and the intangible assets
associated with the ARSgroup. Due to the factweatvill continue to provide the ARS Cofyesting and Equity Tracking services to its He
related customers and have therefore not eliminedperations and cash flows of the ARSgrouphawe concluded that the disposition d
not qualify for presentation as discontinued openat In connection with this transaction we reeard gain on the disposition of $0.2 million.

Settlement of Litigatior

During the three months ended June 30, 2013, wled@atent litigation lawsuits that we initiateginst certain third-parties. In
aggregate, the settlement of these lawsuits resintthe recognition of a net gain of approximatgly2 million during the three months ended
June 30, 2013.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), N

Interest and other income/expense, net, consistgéerest income, interest expense and gains eetogn disposals of fixed assets.

Interest income consists of interest earned froncash and cash equivalent balances. Interest sgpgincurred due to capital leases
pursuant to several equipment loan and securigemgents to finance the lease of various hardwatetrer equipment purchases and our
revolving credit facility. Our capital lease obltgms are secured by a senior security interesligible equipment.

Interest and other income (expense), net for theethnd six months ended June 30, 2013 resulteet iaxpense of $0.2 million and $0.3
million , respectively, as compared to $0.2 milleamd $0.4 million of net interest expense for tire¢ and six months ended June 30, 2012,
respectively.

Loss From Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaiigthe local currency. All assets and liabilitees translated at the current exchange
rates as of the end of the period, and revenuesxmehses are translated at average rates in dtfgng the period. The gain or loss resulting
from the process of translating the foreign curnyefitancial statements into U.S. dollars is inclddes a component of other comprehensive
(loss) income.

We recorded a transaction gain of $0.1 million arnichnsaction loss of $0.2 million during the thaeel six months ended June 30, 2013
respectively, as compared to transaction loss&9.8fmillion and $0.6 million during the three asid months ended June 30, 2012 ,
respectively, due to our continued internationakpnce in Europe and Latin America. Our foreigmenay transactions are recorded primarily
as a result of fluctuations in the exchange rateséen the U.S. dollar and the British Pound, Earal the functional currencies of our Latin
America entities.

Provision for Income Taxe:!

During the three and six months ended June 30, 20/&3recorded income tax provisions of $1.3 milland $3.5 million , respectively,
as compared to income tax provisions of $0.1 mmlkmd $1.2 million during the comparable period2@f2, respectively. The tax provisions
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 at&ibutable to current tax expense
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of $0.4 million and $0.8 million , respectively,chdeferred tax expense of $0.9 million and $2.Tionil, respectively. These amounts include
$0.0 million and $1.0 million of current and defmirtax expense for discrete items such as stockeonsation, statutory rate changes and
changes in uncertain tax positions recorded duhieghree and six months ended June 30, 2013ectgply. Also, included in the tax
provision for six months ended June 30, 2013 i4 #dlllion of tax expense related to the gain onghke of certain assets related to our ARS
Non-Health Copy-Testing and Equity Tracking business.

The tax provisions for the three and six monthseentline 30, 2012 were attributable to current émefits of $7.2 million and $7.0
million , respectively, and deferred tax expens&aB million and $8.2 million, respectively. Themaounts included $2.7 million and $2.9
million of current and deferred tax expense focoite items such as stock compensation, statuateychanges and changes in uncertain tax
positions recorded during the three and six moettted June 30, 2012 , respectively. Included withise amounts is deferred tax expense o
$2.5 million associated with the write-off of a ded tax asset related to certain market-base#t stwards that will never be realized due to
the expiration of the stock awards prior to vesting

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recent accounting pronouncements are detailed i@ Rlto our Consolidated Financial Statements dweduin Item 1 of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2013 2012

(In thousands)

Consolidated Cash Flow Data

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 36,98. $ 24,25
Net cash used in investing activities (2,15 (3,027)
Net cash used in financing activities (10,107 (9,249
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (714 23¢
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 24,00¢ $ 12,22¢

Our principal uses of cash historically have caesi®f cash paid for business acquisitions, pamad other operating expenses and
payments related to the investments in equipmemtgpily to support our consumer panel and techriidahstructure required to support our
customer base. As of June 30, 2013, our prinaipatces of liquidity consisted of $85.8 milliondash, the majority of which represents cash
generated from operating activities. During therabnths ended June 30, 2013, we also borrowed xppately $3.9 million under our
revolving credit facility. In addition, we repaig@roximately $2.0 million under our revolving creféicility for the six months ended June 30,
2013. As of June 30, 2013, $10.2 million of th& $3million in cash on hand is held by foreign sdlasies that would be subject to tax
withholding payments if it is repatriated to theSUlt is management's current intention that akifyn earnings will be indefinitely reinvestec
these foreign countries and will not be repatridgtethe U.S. However, if we were to repatriate éhesds to the U.S., they would be subject tc
income tax payments ranging from 5% to 15% of theant repatriated.

On June 30, 2011, we entered into a secured aedisecurity agreement (the “Credit Agreement”’hvidank of America, N.A. (“Bank
of America”) for a two-year, $50.0 million secureglolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Edity”). The agreement includes a
maximum $7.0 million sublimit for a euro loan fatsiland a $10.0 million sublimit for the issuanddeiters of credit. The maturity date of the
Revolving Credit Facility has been extended to S&ayier 30, 2013. Borrowings under the Revolving Ereakility shall be used towards
working capital and other general corporate purpasewell as for the issuance of letters of crédians made under the Revolving Credit
Facility will bear interest at a fluctuating rataded on the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR)s an applicable margin, which will
range from 1.75% to 2.75%, based on our funded d¢iot We and each of our material, wholly-ownatisdiaries entered into a Security
Agreement in favor of Bank of America (the “Secydtgreement”). Pursuant to the Security Agreemtrg,obligations under the Revolving
Credit Facility are secured by a security intehnestubstantially all of our assets.
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Under the terms of the Revolving Credit Facilitye are restricted from paying dividends and incgrdertain indebtedness, among othe
restrictive covenants. We continue to be in fulihgdiance with all covenants contained in the Rev\Credit Facility.

As of June 30, 2013 €1.5 million (or approximat®®/0 million ) is outstanding under the terms of Bevolving Credit Facility. We
borrowed these funds to pay down certain short-iateicompany loans in order to minimize the pa#ritnpact of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. We anticipate repaying this borrowiatgr in 2013 from cash provided by operating d&shs.

We maintain letters of credit in lieu of securitgpibsits with respect to certain office leases dbageo satisfy performance guarantees
under certain contracts. As of June 30, 2013, 88lléon in letters of credit were outstanding, V&ey $6.4 million available for additional
letters of credit under the Credit Facility. Thésstgers of credit may be reduced periodically pded that we meet the conditional criteria of
each related lease agreement.

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are siguaiftly influenced by our investments in persorara infrastructure to support the
anticipated growth in our business, increaseseémtimber of customers using our products and tlmiatrand timing of payments made by
these customers.

We generated approximately $37.0 million of nethcigem operating activities during the six monthsled June 30, 2013 . Our cash
flows from operations were driven by our net lo§$24 million , offset by $27.5 million in non-dastems such as depreciation, amortization,
provision for bad debts, stock-based compensatioth,a non-cash deferred tax benefit. In addition,operating cash flows were positively
impacted by a $6.2 million decrease in accountsivable associated with enhanced collection a@&sjita $1.6 milliorincrease in deferred re
and by a $2.9 million increase in accounts payaerued expense and other liabilities associatddtiae timing of payments associated with
annual bonuses and professional fees accruedesceimber 31, 2012.

We generated approximately $24.3 million of nethcism operating activities during the six monthsled June 30, 2012. Our cash
flows from operations were driven by our net lo6$a1 million, offset by $35.7 million in non-caiems such as depreciation, impairment of
intangible assets, amortization, provision for dadts, stock-based compensation, and a non-cashretbtax benefit. In addition, our
operating cash flows were positively impacted 88 million net increase in amounts collected frmustomers in advance of when we
recognize revenue due to increases in sales torexiustomers and a $6.5 million decrease in atsoteceivable associated with enhanced
collection activities. Cash flows from operationsres negatively impacted by a $6.3 million decreasseccounts payable, accrued expense an
other liabilities associated with the timing of pagnts related to annual bonuses paid in the firattgr of the year and professional fees
accrued as of December 31, 2011, and an $8.2 millicrease in prepaid expenses and other currsetsas

Investing Activities

Our primary regularly recurring investing activisibave consisted of purchases of computer netwpripment to support our Internet
user panel and maintenance of our database, fregrahd equipment to support our operations, pueshasd sales of marketable securities,
payments related to the acquisition of several @nigs. As our customer base continues to expandxpect purchases of technical
infrastructure equipment to grow in absolute dsllate extent of these investments will be affetgdur ability to expand relationships with
existing customers, grow our customer base, inttedew digital formats and increase our internatipnesence.

We used $2.2 million of net cash in investing atitg during the six months ended June 30, 2018r.dash used for investing activities
was driven by the use of $2.3 million of net casbogiated with the purchase of property and equiptoemaintain and expand our technology
infrastructure, offset slightly by $0.2 million proceeds from the disposition of the ARS Non-He@ltpy-Testing and Equity Tracking
business.

We used $3.0 million of net cash in investing atige during the six months ended June 30, 20ktaated with the purchase of
property and equipment to maintain and expandexthrtology infrastructure.

We expect to achieve greater economies of scal®pguhting leverage as we expand our customerdvasatilize our Internet user pa
and technical infrastructure more efficiently. Véhite anticipate that it will be necessary for usdotinue to invest in our Internet user panel,
technical infrastructure and technical personnsiujgport the combination of an increased custorase inew products, international expansio
and new digital market intelligence formats, wedoad that these investment requirements will be than the revenue growth generated by
these actions. This should result in a lower réte o
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growth in our capital expenditures to support echhical infrastructure. In any given period, tineiig of our incremental capital expenditure
requirements could impact our cost of revenuesd) boabsolute dollars and as a percentage of regenu

Financing Activities

We used $10.1 million of cash during the six morghded June 30, 2013 for financing activities. Thésuded $7.0 milliorfor shares w
repurchased pursuant to the exercise by stock tivegplan participants of their right to elect tseucommon stock to satisfy their tax
withholding obligations. We also used $0.5 milliorepurchase shares under our share repurchag@pron addition we used $4.6 millidm
make payments on our capital lease obligationsinguhe six months ended June 30, 2013 , we redei@ed million in cash related to
borrowings under our revolving credit facility amne repaid $2.0 million under our revolving creditility. We borrowed these funds to pay
down certain short-term intercompany loans in otdeninimize the potential impact of foreign excgamate fluctuations. We anticipate
repaying this borrowing later in 2013 from cashvided by operating cash flows.

We used $9.2 million of cash during the six morghded June 30, 2012 for financing activities. Tihéduded $6.0 million for shares we
repurchased pursuant to the exercise by stock fivegplan participants of their right to elect tseucommon stock to satisfy their tax
withholding obligations. In addition we used $3.Blion to make payments on our capital lease obilige offset by $0.1 million in proceeds
from the exercise of our common stock options.

We do not have any special purpose entities andonmt engage in off-balance sheet financing agaremnts.

Contractual Obligations and Known Future Cash Requiements

Our principal lease commitments consist of obligagdi under leases for office space and computeteddcbmmunications equipment. In
prior and current periods, we financed the purcliis®me of our computer equipment under capitddearrangements over a period of eithe
36 or 42 months. Our purchase obligations relatautetanding orders to purchase computer equipraentypically small and they do not
materially impact our overall liquidity.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, wered into a $10.0 million lease financing arrangahwith Banc of America
Leasing & Capital, LLC. The funds the Company halizad to date under this arrangement have notled the amount available for future
capital leases, because those amounts have bégneasby Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC endeparate third-party arrangements.
This arrangement has been established to allow fisance the purchase of new software, hardwadeotimer computer equipment as we
expand our technology infrastructure in suppomwafbusiness growth. As of June 30, 2013 , we hate outstanding amounts under this
arrangement and other arrangements with Banc ofriémef approximately $13.4 million. These leaseartan interest rate of approximately
5% per annum. The base terms for these leases frmmge¢hree years to three and a half years arlddeca nominal charge in the event of
prepayment. Lease payments under the combinedy@maants are approximately $7.0 million per yeasfakine 30, 2013 . Assets acquired
under the equipment lease secure the obligatioreddition to our leasing arrangement with BanAmierica, we have also entered into a
number of capital lease arrangements with varigugpenent vendors. As of June 30, 2013, we havé botaowings under these arrangements
of $4.7 million.

As of June 30, 2013, $3.6 million in letters oédit were outstanding, leaving $6.4 million avaiéafior additional letters of credit under
the Credit Facility. These letters of credit mayrbduced periodically provided we meet the conddlariteria of each related lease agreemen

As noted in the liquidity and capital resourcegisec in June 2011, we entered into a $50.0 millevolving credit agreement with Bank
of America, N.A. The revolving credit agreement bagn extended to September 30, 2013. As of Jun203@ €1.5 million (or approximately
$2.0 million ) is outstanding under the terms of mvolving credit facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements (asedeffintem 303 of Regulation S-K).

ltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about MarkRisk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magaunt our financial position due to adverse chaimgé&sancial market prices and rates.
We do not hold or issue financial instruments fading purposes or have any derivative financistrinments. As of June 30, 2013, our cash
reserves were maintained primarily in bank depasibunts totaling $85.8 million .
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Foreign Currency Risk

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busiopsrations in foreign countries are derived ftransactions denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency afaperations in those countries. As such, we hapesure to adverse changes in exchange
rates associated with revenues and operating eepa@fi®ur foreign operations, but we believe tligosure to not be significant at this time.
As such, we do not currently engage in any traimasthat hedge foreign currency exchange rate Iniskddition, because we have operations
outside of the U.S., the reported amounts of reggnexpenses, assets and liabilities may flucthatego movements in foreign currency
exchange rates and the resulting foreign curreranstation adjustments. As we grow our internatioperations, our exposure to foreign
currency risk could become more significant.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of June 30, 2013, our principal sources ofitlgy consisted of cash and cash equivalents of@&88llion . These amounts were
invested primarily in bank deposit accounts. Th&hcand cash equivalents are held for working chpiteposes. We do not enter into
investments for trading or speculative purposesbélieve that we do not have any material expoguohanges in the fair value as a result of
changes in interest rates. Changes in interest, fadavever, will change future investment incomevkrall interest rates changed by 1%
during the six months ended June 30, 2013 , oarest exposure would have been less than $0. bmillissuming consistent investment
levels.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finandidficer, after evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Securities Exchange Act of 1934 {(hechange Act”) Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)fake end of the period covered by this
report (the “Evaluation Date”), have concluded th&bf the Evaluation Date, our disclosure contaold procedures are effective, in all
material respects, to ensure that information meglio be disclosed in the reports that we file sutoimit under the Exchange Act (i) is
recorded, processed, summarized and reportedwitkitime periods specified in the Securities Brchange Commission’s rule and forms
and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to ouragament, including our Chief Executive Officer a&hief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting that occurred during the peromdered by this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or arsoeably likely to materially affect, our internardrol over financial reporting.
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PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in various legedceedings arising from the normal course ofriess activities. Except as described
below, we are not presently a party to any pentliggl proceedings the outcome of which we belidvigtermined adversely to us, would
individually or in the aggregate have a materialeade impact on our consolidated results of opamnaticash flows or financial position.

Privacy Class Action Litigatio

On August 23, 2011, we received notice that Mikeridand Jeff Dunstan, individually and on behdlaalass of similarly situated
individuals, filed a lawsuit against us in the xitStates District Court for the Northern Disto€tllinois, Eastern Division, alleging, among
other things, violations by us of the Stored Comitations Act, the Electronic Communications Privédot, Computer Fraud and Abuse Act
and the lllinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive RregtAct as well as unjust enrichment. The comple#eks unspecified damages, including
statutory damages per violation and punitive damaiggunctive relief and reasonable attorneys’ fefethe plaintiffs. In October 2012, the
plaintiffs filed an amended complaint which, amantlger things, removed the claim relating to allegiedations of the lllinois Consumer Fra
and Deceptive Practices Act. On April 2, 2013, Ehstrict Court issued an order certifying a classdnly three of the four claims, refusing to
certify a class for unjust enrichment. Discoveryinderway and expected to continue through 20&48e@ on examinati on of the remaining
claims, we believe that they are without merit, ardintend to vigorously protect and defend ouss\Mhere can be no assurance, however,
that we will prevail in this matter, and any adwersling may have a significant impact on our bassand results of operation. In addition, if
this matter proceeds to trial, we may incur siguaifit legal fees until this matter is resolved.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a sobataisk of loss. You should carefully consideede risk factors, together with all of
the other information included herewith, before yimeide to purchase shares of our common stocko@twerrence of any of the following ri
could materially adversely affect our businessricial condition or operating results. In that casiee trading price of our common stock cc
decline, and you may lose part or all of your irtuant.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Technologies

We derive a significant portion of our revenues frosales of our subscriptiotrased digital marketing intelligence products. liocustomer:
terminate or fail to renew their subscriptions, otonusiness could suffer.

We currently derive a significant portion of ouveeues from our subscription-based digital markgimelligence products.
Subscription-based products accounted for 86% &#6l & our revenues during the six months ended 30n2013 and the full year 2012,
respectively. Uncertain economic conditions or ofaetors, such as the failure or consolidatiotaade financial institutions, may cause cer
customers to terminate or reduce their subscriptifrour customers terminate their subscriptiamrsolur products, do not renew their
subscriptions, delay renewals of their subscrigionrenew on terms less favorable to us, our ige®rould decline and our business could
suffer.

Our customers have no obligation to renew afteettpgration of their initial subscription periodhigh is typically one year, and we
cannot be assured that current subscriptions wililmewed at the same or higher dollar amounds,afi. Some of our customers have elected
not to renew their subscription agreements witinube past. If we experience a change of conamblefined in such agreements, some of oul
customers also have the right to terminate thdisetiptions. Moreover, some of our major custonmange the right to cancel their subscription
agreements without cause at any time. Given theectiunpredictable economic conditions as welladimited historical data with respect to
rates of customer subscription renewals, we may kigfficulty accurately predicting future custormenewal rates. Our customer renewal rate
may decline or fluctuate as a result of a numbéactbrs, including customer satisfaction or dis$attion with our products, the costs or
functionality of our products, the prices or functality of products offered by our competitors, gess and acquisitions affecting our custome
base, general economic conditions or reductiomsiircustomers’ spending levels. In this regardhaee seen a number of customers with
weaker balance sheets choosing not to renew spbsas with us during economic downturns.
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Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate the future. As a result, we may fail to meet otceed the expectations of securities
analysts or investors, which could cause our stqeice to decline.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctua@aesult of a variety of factors, many of whicé autside of our control. If our
quarterly revenues or results of operations damegt or exceed the expectations of securities asisaty investors, the price of our common
stock could decline substantially. In additionfie bther risk factors set forth in this “Risk Fastosection, factors that may cause fluctuations
in our quarterly revenues or results of operationkide:

» our ability to increase sales to existing custonae attract new custome

» our failure to accurately estimate or contratso— including those incurred as a result of asitjans, investments, other business
development initiatives and litigation;

» the timing of contract renewals, delivery of guots and duration of contracts and the correspgrtilining of revenue recognition as
well as the effects of revenue derived from newdinf business and recently-acquired companies;

» the uncertainties associated with the integnatibacquired new lines of business, and operafioasuntries in which we may have
little or no previous experience;

» the mix of subscription-based versus projeas$ed revenue
e changes in our customersibscription renewal behaviors and spending orepts
e our ability to estimate revenues and cash flowe@ated with new lines of business and businesgatipas acquired by L

» the impact on our contract renewal rates, fahlmar subscription and project-based productssedby our customers’ budgetary
constraints, competition, customer dissatisfactimstomer corporate restructuring or change inrogrdgr our customers’ actual or
perceived lack of need for our products;

» the potential loss of significant custom
» the effect of revenues generated from signiticaretime projects or the loss of such proje
» the impact of our decision to discontinue certaivdpicts

» the amount and timing of capital expenditured aperating costs related to the maintenance apanesion of our operations and
infrastructure;

* the timing and success of new product introductimnss or our competitol

e variations in the demand for our products and tin@lémentation cycles of our products by our custs
* changes in our pricing and discounting policiethoise of our competitol

e service outages, other technical difficulties anséy breache:

» limitations relating to the capacity of our netwsrkystems and proces:

e maintaining appropriate staffing levels and daljitées relative to projected growth, or retainikgy personnel as a result of the
integration of recent acquisitions;

e adverse judgments or settlements in legal disg
» the cost and timing of organizational restructuyingparticular in international jurisdictiot

» the extent to which certain expenses are motessrdeductible for tax purposes, such as sharedb@ompensation that fluctuates
based on the timing of vesting and our stock price;

» the timing of any additional reversal of our dedertax valuation allowanc
e adoption of new accounting pronouncements
» general economic, political, industry and marketdittions and those conditions specific to Intenggige and online busines:

We believe that our quarterly revenues and resfilbperations on a year-over-year and sequentetteuover-quarter basis may vary
significantly in the future and that period-to-meticomparisons of our operating results may nahbaningful. Investors are cautioned not to
rely on the results of prior quarters as an indicatf future performance.

Our business may be harmed if we deliver, or aregeéved to deliver, inaccurate information to ouustomers, to the media or to the public
generally.

If the information that we provide to our customeéosthe media, or to the public is inaccuratepenceived to be inaccurate, our brand
may be harmed. The information that we collechet ts included in our databases and the statigtiogections that we provide to our
customers, to the media or to the public may cantaibe perceived to contain inaccuracies. Thegegions may be viewed as an important
measure for the success of certain businesseg;iabpthose businesses
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with a large online presence. Any inaccuracy oceeed inaccuracy in the data reported by us akach businesses may potentially affect the
market perception of such businesses and resclaims or litigation around the accuracy of ouradatr the appropriateness of our
methodology, may encourage aggressive action opéatteof our competitors, and could harm our brard; dissatisfaction by our customers
or the media with our digital marketing intelligeneneasurement or data collection and statisticgéption methodologies, whether as a resul
of inaccuracies, perceived inaccuracies, or otteawdould have an adverse effect on our abilitgtain existing customers and attract new
customers and could harm our brand. Additionallg,amuld be contractually required to pay damagégwcould be substantial, to certain of
our customers if the information we provide to thisrfound to be inaccurate. Any liability that wesur or any harm to our brand that we st
because of actual or perceived irregularities acéuracies in the data we deliver to our custormeusd harm our business.

Material defects or errors in our data collectiomd analysis systems could damage our reputatiosutein significant costs to us an
impair our ability to sell our products.

Our data collection and analysis systems are cotguid may contain material defects or errors. lditaah, the large amount of data that
we collect may make our data collection and analggstems more susceptible to defects or erroesscdmpanies that we have acquired also
rely on data collection and analysis software arstiesns to service enterprise customers. Any défemtr panelist data collection software,
census collection systems, our enterprise focustdare and systems, network systems, statisticaéptions or other methodologies could
lead to consequences that could adversely impaecatpg results, including:

* loss of customer

» damage to our brar

» lost or delayed market acceptance and sales gfroducts

» interruptions in the availability of our produc

» the incurrence of substantial costs to correctraaterial defect or errc
» sales credits, refunds or liability to our custos;

» diversion of development resources;

» increased warranty and insurance ¢

We may lose customers or be liable to certain costes if we provide poor service or if our produats not comply with our customer
agreements.

Errors in our systems resulting from the large amatfi data that we collect, store and manage ccalcse the information that we collect
to be incomplete or to contain inaccuracies thatcogtomers regard as significant. The failurenability of our systems, networks and
processes to adequately handle the data in a higlitygand consistent manner could result in thes lof customers. In addition, we may be
liable to certain of our customers for damages thay incur resulting from these events, such asdbbusiness, loss of future revenues,
breach of contract or loss of goodwill to their iness.

Our insurance policies may not cover any claim ragais for loss of data, unauthorized use of diaijaroper access to data, inaccuracies
in data or other indirect or consequential damageksdefending a lawsuit, regardless of its meoitil@ be costly and divert management’s
attention. Adequate insurance coverage may novéiéaale in the future on acceptable terms, ollafay such developments could adversely
affect our business and results of operations.

Our business may be harmed if we change our metHodies or the scope of information we collect.

We have in the past and may in the future changenethodologies, the methodologies of companieseggiire, or the scope of
information we collect. Such changes may resulnfidentified deficiencies in current methodologigsyelopment of more advanced
methodologies, changes in our business plans, esandechnology used by websites, browsers, ajgits, servers, or media we measure,
integration of acquired companies or expressecnrgived needs of our customers or potential custeniny such changes or perceived
changes, or our inability to accurately or adeqyatemmunicate to our customers and the media shahges and the potential implications o
such changes on the data we have published opublish in the future, may result in customer dis$action, particularly if certain
information is no longer collected or informatiooilected in future periods is not comparable witfoimation collected in prior periods. For
example, in 2009, we adopted new methodology tlaiddvintegrate server-based web beacon informatitmour existing panel-based data.
In 2009, we also acquired and entered into a gfi@adliance with web analytics companies in orideenhance the scope of our server-based
web beacon information. As a result of future mdtilogy changes, some of our existing customersistomers of acquired entities may re
to participate, or participate only in a limitedsféon, and other customers may become dissatiafiedresult of changes in our methodology
and decide not to continue purchasing their suporis or may decide to discontinue providing ushuieir web beacon or other server-side
information. Such customers may elect to
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publicly air their dissatisfaction with the methdalgical changes made by us, thereby damaging @ndoand harming our reputation.
Additionally, we expect that we will need to furthietegrate new capabilities with our existing naetblogies if we develop or acquire
additional products or lines of business in tharfert The resulting future changes to our methodefghe information we collect, or the
strategy we implement to collect and analyze infation, such as the movement away from pure pamgticeneasurement to a hybrid of
panel- and site-centric measurement, may causé@udicustomer dissatisfaction and result in lolssustomers.

If we are not able to maintain panels of sufficiestze and scope, or if the costs of maintaining ganels materially increase, our busine
could be harmed.

We believe that the quality, size and scope oflist@rnet, mobile and cross-media user panels @reattto our business. There can be nc
assurance, however, that we will be able to mairganels of sufficient size and scope to provideghality of marketing intelligence that our
customers demand from our products. If we fail @intain a panel of sufficient size and scope, idicig coverage of international markets,
customers might decline to purchase our productsreaw their subscriptions, our reputation couldiamaged and our business could be
materially and adversely affected. We expect thatpanel costs may increase and may comprise gegigartion of our cost of revenues in the
future. The costs associated with maintaining amgroving the quality, size and scope of our paneldependent on many factors, many of
which are beyond our control, including the paptition rate of potential panel members, the turnaweong existing panel members and
requirements for active participation of panel memnsbsuch as completing survey questionnaires. &€os®ver the potential unauthorized
disclosure of personal information or the clasatiien of our software as “spyware” or “adware” ntayse existing panel members to uninstal
our software or may discourage potential panel nemfsom installing our software. To the extentexperience greater turnover, or churn, in
our panel than we have historically experienceglse¢hcosts would increase more rapidly. We also teaw@nated and may in the future
terminate relationships with service providers whpgactices we believe may not comply with our geiv policies, and have removed and ma
in the future remove panel members obtained thraugh service providers. Such actions may restittdreased costs for recruiting additional
panel members. In addition, publishing contenthenlhternet and purchasing advertising space on $ifeb may become more expensive or
restrictive in the future, which could decreasedtailability and increase the cost of advertidimg incentives we offer to panel members. To
the extent that such additional expenses are moingganied by increased revenues, our operatinginsangay be reduced and our financial
results could be adversely affected. Finally, wee@nrently subject to privacy and data securilgteg claims by certain panel members in a
pending class action lawsuit, and we may be saagahe future. The outcome of this litigationtbe negative public reaction to the details of
the litigation may make it difficult for us to adirt and retain panel members.

Difficulties entering into arrangements with websitowners, wireless communications operators andeoténtities supporting serv- and
census-based methodologies may negatively affecinoethodologies and harm our business.

We believe that our methodologies are enhancetidwbility to collect information using serveased web beacon information and o
census-level approaches. There can be no assutaweeyer, that we will be able to maintain relasbips with a sufficient number and scope
of websites in order to provide the quality of netikg intelligence that our customers demand frompsoducts. If we fail to continue to
expand the scope of our server-based data colteapproaches, customers might decline to purchasproducts or renew their subscriptions,
our reputation could be damaged and our businadd be adversely affected.

Concern over spyware and privacy, including any laitons of privacy laws, perceived misuse of perabinformation, or failure to adhere

to the privacy commitments that we make, could capsiblic relations problems, regulatory scrutinyné potential class action lawsuits and
could impair our ability to recruit panelists or matain panels of sufficient size and scope, whiahturn could adversely affect our ability to
provide our products

Any perception of our practices as an invasionrofgey, whether legal or illegal, may subject ugptiblic criticism, regulatory scrutiny,
and potential class action lawsuits. Media covermugpublic discourse initiated by lawmakers amplif@ors have increased the sensitivity of
consumers to the collection or use of personakmé&tion and online usage information, especialigulgh the use of third party cookies or
similar persistent identifiers, and the possibitifyan unauthorized use or disclosure of this imfaiion may create negative public reaction
related to our business practices. A shift in puatceptance of measurement technologies sucliragpénty cookies may have a chilling effi
on businesses that collect or use online usageniafiion generally or substantially increase thé obsnaintaining a business that collects or
uses online usage information, increase regulatomytiny and increase the potential of class adéwsuits. In response to marketplace
concerns about the usage of third party cookiesngtilbeacons to track user behaviors, the majavdes have enabled features that allow
user to limit the collection of certain data. Weiaaly seek to prevent the inclusion of our coolaasl beacons on the lists of companies whos
activities are automatically blocked without prindividual review of those cookies and beaconshayand user; however such automatic
browser activity can negatively impact the scopa an
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quality of the data that we are able to collectdor research products. Additionally, public comckas grown regarding certain kinds of
downloadable software known as “spyware” and “a@waFhese concerns might cause users to refrain &fownloading software from the
Internet, including our proprietary technologythiey inaccurately believe our software is “spywave*adware. This could make it difficult tc
recruit additional panelists or maintain a panedufficient size and scope to provide meaningfutkating intelligence. In response to general
spyware and adware concerns in the marketplaceermws programs are available, many of which ardadta for free, and that claim to
identify, remove or block such software or activiBome anti-spyware programs have in the pastifaghtand may in the future identify, our
software as spyware or potential spyware applinatigVe actively seek to prevent the inclusion afsmftware on lists of spyware applications
or potential spyware applications and apply bedtistry practices for obtaining appropriate congemh panelists, protect the privacy and
confidentiality of our panelist data, and complyhweéxisting privacy laws. However, to the exterattive are not successful, and anti-spyware
programs classify our software as spyware or anpialespyware application, or third party servigeyders fail to comply with our privacy or
data security requirements, our brand may be haanddisers may refrain from downloading these @mogr uninstall our software or pursue
actions against us for damages. For example, weusrently named as defendant in a class-actiosd#viled in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Illinois, EasteDivision, alleging among other things, violatidnsus of the Stored Communications Act,
Electronic Communications Privacy Act and Compiiewud and Abuse Act. The complaint seeks unspdaif@nages, including statutory
damages per violation and punitive damages, injuacelief and reasonable attorneys’ fees of tiaéngiffs. Based on our review of these
claims, we believe that these claims are withouttreend we intend to vigorously protect and defendselves. There can be no assurance,
however, that we will prevail in this matter, amyyadverse ruling may have a significant impacbonbusiness and results of operation. In
addition, if this matter proceeds to trial, we niagur significant legal fees until this matter ésolved. In addition, any resulting reputational
harm, potential or actual claims asserted agamsr ulecrease in the size or scope of our pandéd ceduce the demand for our products,
increase the cost of recruiting panelists, advgraiéct our ability to provide our products to @wstomers or result in additional costs in the
form of settlement, judgments, restrictions on lousiness or diversion of resources to address afehd the claims. Any of these adverse
effects could harm our business and our operaésglts.

Domestic or foreign laws, regulations or enforcenteactions may limit our ability to collect and useformation about Internet users o
restrict or prohibit our product offerings, causing decrease in the value of our products and an @de impact on the sales of our produc

Our business could be adversely impacted by egistirfuture laws or regulations of, or actions thgmestic or foreign regulatory
agencies. For example, privacy concerns couldtiedehislative, judicial and regulatory limitations our ability to collect, maintain and use
information about Internet users in the United &atnd abroad. Various state legislatures havdeshkegislation designed to protect Internet
users’ privacy, for example, by prohibiting spywadrerecent years, similar legislation has beempgpsed in other states and at the federal leve
and has been enacted in foreign countries, moabhoby the European Union, which adopted a priw@iogctive regulating the collection of
personally identifiable information online and moeeently, restricting the use of cookies withopt-m consent by the user. Recently, the U.S
Congress and regulators have expressed concerith@veollection of Internet usage information, whetarted as part of a larger initiative to
regulate online behavioral advertising, but whidls lexpanded in scope to a general concern overeainéicking. A similar concern has been
raised by regulatory agencies in Europe. In additid S. and European lawmakers and regulators évgue@ssed concern over the use of third
party cookies or web beacons to understand Inteisade. Additionally, the European Commission baséad a new directive requiring the
regulation of cookies throughout the European Uniamich will likely lead to the introduction of adlidbnal regulations that may vary from
country to country. Moreover, on July 1, 2013, sed rules by the Federal Trade Commission, relatiredpildren's online privacy, became
effective that might have an impact on our busingéhsse laws and regulations, if drafted or intetgnl broadly, could be deemed to apply to
the technology we use, and could restrict our mfation collection methods, and the collection mdthof third parties from whom we may
obtain data, or decrease the amount and utilith@information that we would be permitted to cctldEven if such laws and regulations are
enacted, lawmakers and regulators may publiclyictdlquestion the collection and use of Intermahobile usage data and may affect ven
and customershillingness to do business with us. In additionr; akility to conduct business in certain foreigrigdictions, including China,
restricted by the laws, regulations and agencyastof those jurisdictions. The costs of complianie, and the other burdens imposed by,
these and other laws or regulatory actions mayepriewrs from selling our products or increase thstscassociated with selling our products,
and may affect our ability to invest in or jointlgvelop products in the United States and in forgigisdictions.

In addition, failure to comply with these and otkexrs and regulations may result in, among othieig) administrative enforcement
actions and fines, class action lawsuits and eiwvd criminal liability. State attorneys generalygamental and non-governmental entities and
private persons may bring legal actions assertingdaur methods of collecting, using and distribgtiVeb site visitor information are illegal or
improper, which could require us to spend signifidime and resources defending these claims. ¥anple, some companies that collect, use
and distribute Web site visitor information havebe
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the subject of governmental investigations andsedagion lawsuits. Any such regulatory or civiliantthat is brought against us, even if
unsuccessful, may distract our management’s attendivert our resources, negatively affect ourliguilmage or reputation among our
panelists and customers and harm our business.

The impact of any of these current or future lawsegulations could make it more difficult or exgere to attract or maintain panelists,
particularly in affected jurisdictions, and couldvarsely affect our business and results of op@ati

Any unauthorized disclosure or theft of private imfmation we gather could harm our busines

Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifialpiformation regarding Web site visitors, whetheawotigh breach of our secure network
by an unauthorized party, employee theft or misasetherwise, could harm our business. If theresvea inadvertent disclosure of personally
identifiable information, or customer confidentiaformation, or if a third party were to gain uniaotized access to the personally identifiable
or customer confidential information we possess,aperations could be seriously disrupted and wedcbe subject to claims or litigation
arising from damages suffered by panel membersi@uant to the agreements with our customers. ditiad, we could incur significant costs
in complying with the multitude of state, federabdoreign laws regarding the unauthorized disalesii personal information. Finally, any
perceived or actual unauthorized disclosure ofrif@mation we collect could harm our reputatiombstantially impair our ability to attract &
retain panelists and have an adverse impact obusiness.

The success of our business depends in large parbor ability to protect and enforce our intellecal property rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, ssrmark, trademark and trade secret laws, asagatbnfidentiality procedures and
contractual restrictions, to establish and probectproprietary rights, all of which provide onlynited protection. In addition, where we
determine necessary, we pursue enforcement ohtelteictual property rights. Such enforcement &ctiay cause us to incur costs, distraci
attention of management, and result in unfavorpbldic opinion or outcomes that are not in our faeach of which could adversely affect
brand, business and results of operations. Whilbave filed a number of patent applications and approximately 50 issued patents
worldwide, we cannot assure you that any additipastnts will be issued with respect to any ofmemding or future patent applications, nor
can we assure you that any patent issued to upmewide adequate protection, or that any patestseid to us will not be challenged,
invalidated, circumvented, or held to be unenfobbe# actions against alleged infringers. Also,a@@not assure you that any future tradel
or service mark registrations will be issued wilpect to pending or future applications or thgt@our registered trademarks and service
marks will be enforceable or provide adequate ptme of our proprietary rights. Furthermore, adetguor any) patent, trademark, service
mark, copyright and trade secret protection maybecavailable in every country in which our sersiege available.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our eyegl® and contractors and with parties with whondaéusiness in order to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infdiona\We cannot be certain that the steps we halkentwill prevent unauthorized use of our
technology or the reverse engineering of our teldgy Moreover, third parties might independentivelop technologies that are competitive
to ours or that infringe upon our intellectual pedy. In addition, the legal standards relatinghi® validity, enforceability and scope of
protection of intellectual property rights in Intet-related industries are uncertain and still émgl, both in the United States and in other
countries. The protection of our intellectual prdpeights may depend on our legal actions againgtinfringers being successful. Although,
we have been successful in certain actions in éis¢ e cannot be sure any such actions will beesisful, and any such action may be
expensive and divert considerable attention ofreanagement team from the normal operation of osiniess.

An assertion from a third party that we are infringg its intellectual property, whether such assentis are valid or not, could subject us
costly and time-consuming litigation or expensivednses.

The Internet, mobile media, software and technolagystries are characterized by the existencelarfge number of patents, copyrigt
trademarks and trade secrets and by frequenttidighased on allegations of infringement or otfielations of intellectual property rights,
domestically or internationally. As we grow anddancreasing competition, the probability that onenore third parties will make intellectual
property rights claims against us increases. Ih gases, our technologies may be found to infrimgéhe intellectual property rights of others.
Additionally, many of our subscription agreementsymequire us to indemnify our customers for thpedty intellectual property infringement
claims, which would increase our costs if we havddfend such claims and may require that we payadas and provide alternative servic
there were an adverse ruling in any such claintslléctual property claims could harm our relattips with our customers, deter future
customers from subscribing to our products or egpgsto litigation, which could be expensive angediconsiderable attention of our
management team from the normal operation of osinless. Even if we are not a party to any litigatietween a customer and a third party,
an adverse outcome in any such litigation coulderiaknore difficult for us to
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defend against intellectual property claims bytthied party in any subsequent litigation in whick are a named party. Any of these results
could adversely affect our brand, business andtsestioperations.

With respect to any intellectual property rightsigl against us or our customers, we may have talpaages or stop using technology
found to be in violation of a third party’s rights/e may have to seek a license for the technolich may not be available on reasonable
terms or at all, may significantly increase ourrapieg expenses or may significantly restrict ousibess activities in one or more respects. W
may also be required to develop alternative nonrging technology, which could require significaffort and expense. Any of these
outcomes could adversely affect our business asudtseof operations. Even if we prove successfualdfending ourselves against such claims,
we may incur substantial expenses and the actifemsie of such claims may divert considerable atierdf our management team from the
normal operation of our business.

The market for digital marketing intelligence is gieloping, and if it does not develop, or developsrenslowly than expected, our business
will be harmed.

The market for digital marketing intelligence praothuis still developing, and it is uncertain whettiese products will maintain high
levels of demand and increased market acceptansesu@cess will depend to a substantial extenhemillingness of companies to increase
their use of such products and to continue used groducts on a long-term basis. Factors thataifagt market acceptance include:

» the reliability of digital marketing intelligence-grducts
e public concern regarding privacy and data seci

» decisions of our customers and potential custsriedevelop digital marketing intelligence caiibs internally rather than
purchasing such products from third-party supplides us;

» decisions by industry associations in the Un¢ates or in other countries that result in asgmei-directed awards, on behalf of their
members, of digital measurement contracts to oreelionited number of competitive vendors;

» the ability to maintain high levels of customerisfaiction; an
» the rate of growth in eCommerce, online advertising digital medi:

The market for our products may not develop furtbemay develop more slowly than we expect or magn contract, all of which cot
adversely affect our business and operating results

Because our lon-term success depends, in part, on our ability igend the sales of our products to customers lodadeitside of the United
States, our business will become increasingly syiixe to risks associated with international opeians.

In recent years, we acquired various businessdssulistantial presence or clientele in multiplar.american, European and Middle
Eastern countries. Prior to these acquisitionsptlierwise had limited experience operating in markatside of the United States. Our
inexperience in operating our business outsidb®iinited States may increase the risk that ttegriational expansion efforts in which we are
engaged will not be successful. In addition, cotidganternational operations subjects us to ritlked we have not generally faced in the
United States. These risks include:

* recruitment and maintenance of a sufficiently lamgd representative panel both globally and irageitountries

« expanding the adoption of our server- or cermsed web beacon data collection in internatiooahtries

» different customer needs and buying behavior thamke accustomed to in the United St

» difficulties and expenses associated with tailovng products to local markets, including theinsiation into foreign languag:

» difficulties in staffing and managing internata operations — including complex and costly hgridisciplinary, and termination
requirements;

* longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdlffes in collecting accounts receival

» potentially adverse tax consequences, inclutiegcomplexities of foreign value-added taxes astrictions on the repatriation of
earnings;

» reduced or varied protection for intellectual pndpeights in some countrie

» the burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and regulatior

» fluctuations in currency exchange ra

* increased accounting and reporting burdens and leoatips; ani

» political, social and economic instability abro&etyorist attacks and security conce
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Additionally, operating in international marketgjoéres significant management attention and firereisources. We cannot be certain
that the investments and additional resources redjtid establish and maintain operations in otbentries will hold their value or produce
desired levels of revenues or profitability. We mainbe certain that we will be able to maintain aratease the size of the Internet user panel
that we currently have in various countries, thatwill be able to recruit a representative sampieofir audience measurement products, ol
we will be able to enter into arrangements witlhufigent number of website owners to allow us tdlect server-based information for
inclusion in our digital marketing intelligence piects. In addition, there can be no assurancdrtenet usage and eCommerce will continue
to grow in international markets. In addition, gowaental authorities in various countries haveedéht views regarding regulatory oversight
of the Internet. For example, the Chinese governmas taken steps in the past to restrict the cbvmateailable to Internet users in China.

The impact of any one or more of these risks coelgatively affect or delay our plans to expandioternational business and,
consequently, our future operating results.

If the Internet advertising and eCommerce marketsvetlop more slowly than we expect, our business suffer.

Our future success will depend on continued grawthe use of the Internet, including mobile Ingfrras an advertising medium, a
continued increase in eCommerce spending and tiiéegpation of the Internet as a platform for a widariety of consumer activities. These
markets are evolving rapidly, and it is not certhiat their current growth trends will continue.

The adoption of Internet advertising, particuldslyadvertisers that have historically relied olitianal offline media, requires the
acceptance of new approaches to conducting busameka willingness to invest in such new approadahéght of a difficult economic
environment. Advertisers may perceive Internet dikiag to be less effective than traditional adisang for marketing their products. They
may also be unwilling to pay premium rates for paladvertising that is targeted at specific segmehtisers based on their demographic
profile or Internet behavior. The online advertgsanmd eCommerce markets may also be adverselytexdfey privacy issues relating to such
targeted advertising, including that which makes efspersonalized information, or online behavianérmation. Furthermore, online
merchants may not be able to establish online cawamaodels that are cost effective and may nohleaw to effectively compete with other
Web sites or offline merchants. In addition, constsrmay not continue to shift their spending ondgoand services from offline outlets to the
Internet. As a result, growth in the use of theinét for eCommerce may not continue at a rapa mtthe Internet may not be adopted as a
medium of commerce by a broad base of customearsropanies worldwide. Moreover, the adoption of atisieag through mobile media may
slow as a result of uncertain economic conditianstber factors. Because of the foregoing factansong others, the market for Internet
advertising and eCommerce, including commerce tiltauobile media, may not continue to grow at sigaift rates. If these markets do not
continue to develop, or if they develop more slothlgn expected, our business may suffer.

Our growth depends upon our ability to retain exisf large customers and add new large customersykeger, to the extent we are not
successful in doing so, our ability to maintain pitability and positive cash flow may be impaire

Our success depends in part on our ability toaellproducts to large customers and on the renefathe subscriptions of those
customers in subsequent years. For the six montthsdeJune 30, 2013 and the years ended Decemhb201 and 2011, we derived
approximately 23% , 22% and 26%, respectively,wftotal revenues from our top 10 customers. Uagedconomic conditions or other
factors, such as the failure or consolidation oféacustomer companies, or internal reorganizatfacthanges in focus, may cause certain large
customers to terminate or reduce their subscriptidMoreover, certain recently acquired companie® havenues highly concentrated in a few
large customers. The loss of any one or more afettonistomers could decrease our revenues and iararoent and future operating results.
The addition of new large customers or increasesli@s to existing large customers may requirequdatly long implementation periods and
other significant upfront costs, which may adversdfect our profitability. To compete effectivelywe have in the past been, and may in the
future be, forced to offer significant discountgnaintain existing customers or acquire other langgomers. In addition, we may be forced to
reduce or withdraw from our relationships with e@rtexisting customers or refrain from acquiringt@® new customers in order to acquire or
maintain relationships with important large custesnés a result, new large customers or increasadeaiof our products by large customers
may cause our profits to decline and our abilitgetl our products to other customers could be e affected.

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesifra single customer, Microsoft Corporation. Forghemonths ended June 30, 2013
and the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201denved approximately 8% , 8% and 10%, respectjw@flypur total revenues from
Microsoft. If Microsoft were to cease or substalhtieeduce its use of our products, our revenuebsearnings might decline.
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As our international operations grow, changes inréagn currencies could have an increased effectaur operating results

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busiopsrations in foreign countries are derived ftransactions denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency afaperations in those countries. As such, we hapesure to adverse changes in exchange
rates associated with revenues and operating eepafi®ur foreign operations, but we do not cutyegnter into any hedging instruments that
hedge foreign currency exchange rate risk. As wevgrur international operations, and acquire corigsawith established business in
international regions, our exposure to foreign ency risk could become more significant. During shemonths ended June 30, 2013, the
average U.S. Dollar to euro exchange rate was appabely $1.0 to €0.76. There can be no guaramht@eetxchange rates will remain constant
over the long-term.

We may expand through investments in, acquisitimfsor the development of new products with assista from other companies, any of
which may not be successful and may divert our mgament'’s attention.

In recent years, we acquired M:Metrics, the Cexdifjroup of companies located in Latin America, ARBp, Nexius, Nedstat and
AdXpose. We also expect to continue to evaluateesnter into discussions regarding a wide arrayotéptial strategic transactions, including
acquiring complementary products, technologiesusinesses. We also may enter into relationshigs etiter businesses in order to expanc
product offerings, which could involve preferredexclusive licenses, discount pricing or investraéntother businesses, or to expand our
sales capabilities. These transactions could benmhto our financial condition and results of c®ns. Although these transactions may
provide additional benefits, they may not be pedfie immediately or in the long term. Negotiatimy auch transactions could be time-
consuming, difficult and expensive, and our abildyclose these transactions may be subject tdatgy or other approvals and other
conditions that are beyond our control. Conseqyentt can make no assurances that any such traorsgdf undertaken and announced,
would be completed.

An acquisition, investment or business relationshiy result in unforeseen operating difficultiesl @xpenditures. In particular, we may
encounter difficulties assimilating or integratithg businesses, technologies, products, personoglerations of the acquired companies,
particularly if the key personnel of the acquireiinpany choose not to be employed by us, and wehaag difficulty retaining the customers
of any acquired business due to changes in manageme ownership. Acquisitions may also disruptangoing business, divert our resou
and require significant management attention thatld/otherwise be available for ongoing developnuérmtur business. Moreover, we cannot
assure you that the anticipated benefits of anyiaitpn, investment or business relationship wduddrealized or that we would not be exp¢
to unknown liabilities. In connection with any sutansaction, we may:

* encounter difficulties retaining key employeesh## aicquired company or integrating diverse businekgres
e issue additional equity securities that would dilthe common stock held by existing stockhol

* incur large charges or substantial liabilities|uding without limitation, liabilities associatevith products or technologies accused or
found to infringe third party intellectual property

» become subject to adverse tax consequences, stidsti@preciation or deferred compensation cha
e use cash that we may need in the future to operatbusines:
* enter new geographic markets that subject us ferdiit laws and regulations that may have an advarpact on our busine

» experience difficulties effectively utilizing acqad asset

« encounter difficulties integrating the inforn@tiand financial reporting systems of acquiredifprdusinesses, particularly those that
operated under accounting principles other thaselymnerally accepted in the United States prithrd@cquisition by us; and

» incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that veeusrable to repa

The impact of any one or more of these factorsccadbersely affect our business or results of djgersior cause the price of our
common stock to decline substantially.

Following an acquisition of another business, wg alao be required to defer the recognition of nexethat we receive from the sale of
products that we acquired, or from the sale of kesigroducts that include products that we acquifed instance, if we acquire a software
company and are not able to establish vendor spetifective evidence, or VSOE, for any undeliveetgiments in the arrangement, we ma
required to defer substantial portions of reveffu@e are unable to establish VSOE for transactieteted to acquired products and services i
future periods, we may be required to delay thegaition of current and future revenue sourcess Ty result in fluctuations in our
operating results and may adversely affect botbrmaes and operating margins in a given period nog®e

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also Itéaudilutive issuances of our equity securititg incurrence of debt, contingent
liabilities, amortization expenses, or write-offsgpodwill, any of which could harm our financialrdition. In
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addition, acquisitions will generally result in rezognizing significant amounts of intangible assHtwe experience significant declines in
operating results associated with past, or futacguisitions, and the anticipated benefits of aquesition is not expected to materialize, we 1
be required to perform impairment testing of oungdived assets, and ultimately may be required tonean impairment charge. For exam,
we recorded an impairment charge of $3.3 millioriruthe year ended December 31, 2012 relatingiboevof intangible assets associated
with the 2010 acquisition of ARS.

Conditions and changes in the national and globalaomic environment may adversely affect our busia@and financial results.

Adverse economic conditions in markets in whichoperate can harm our business. If the economidsediinited States and other
countries continue to experience prolonged ungggtacustomers may delay or reduce their purchekdigital marketing intelligence produc
and services. In recent years, economic condifiotise countries in which we operate and sell potsihave been negative, and global
financial markets have experienced significant tilithastemming from a multitude of factors, incling adverse credit conditions impacted by
concerns about the credit worthiness of U.S. tngasecurities, slower economic activity, inflatiand deflation, decreased consumer
confidence, increased unemployment, reduced cameprafits and capital spending, adverse businesditons, liquidity and other factors.
Notwithstanding certain signs of economic recovargecent periods, economic growth slowed in thddia of 2012 and may continue to
slow through the remainder of 2013 in the U.S. iateknationally, particularly in view of recent e@mic turmoil in Europe, increasing energy
costs, Federal government budget uncertaintidsainited States anticipated and increased conedmg economic slowdown in Asia,
particularly in China. During challenging econortiloes, and in tight credit markets, many custorherse and may continue to delay or rec
spending. Additionally, some of our customers mawhbable to fully pay for purchases or may discurditheir businesses, resulting in the
incurrence of uncollectible receivables for us.sT¢wuld result in reductions in our sales, longéescycles, difficulties in collection of
accounts receivable, slower adoption of new teagiet and increased price competition. This downioay also impact our available
resources for financing new and existing operatitfrgiobal economic and market conditions, or emait conditions in the United States or
other key markets further deteriorate, we may d@rpee a material and adverse impact on our businesglts of operations and financial
condition.

Changes and instability in the national and globpblitical environments may adversely affect our linsss and financial results.

Recent turmoil in the political environment in mawarts of the world, such as the Middle East, iditlg terrorist activities, military
actions, political unrest and increases in eneaggscdue to instability in oproducing regions may continue to put pressureloload economit
conditions. If global economic and market condisipor economic conditions in the United Statestbeiokey markets further deteriorate, we
may experience material impacts on our businessatipg results, and financial condition.

If we fail to respond to technological developmentsir products may become obsolete or less comnipet

Our future success will depend in part on our gbith modify or enhance our products to meet custoneeds, to add functionality anc
address technological advancements. For examplertédin handheld devices become the primary mode
of receiving content and conducting transactiontheninternet, and we are unable to adapt to ddiéarmation from such devices, then we
would not be able to report on online activity. fEmain competitive, we will need to develop newdurcts that address these evolving
technologies and standards across the universigitdldnedia — including television, Internet anloile usage. However, we may be
unsuccessful in identifying new product opportwgstor in developing or marketing new products fimely or cost-effective manner. In
addition, our product innovations may not achiv@market penetration or price levels necessarprfitability. If we are unable to develop
enhancements to, and new features for, our exigtigitpodologies or products or if we are unableewetbp new products that keep pace with
rapid technological developments or changing ingustndards, our products may become obsoletemesketable and less competitive, and
our business will be harmed.

The market for digital marketing intelligence is ghly competitive, and if we cannot compete effeelyy our revenues will decline and our
business will be harmed.

The market for digital marketing intelligence iglhly competitive and is evolving rapidly. We competimarily with providers of digite
media intelligence and related analytical prodactd services. We also compete with providers oketarg services and solutions, with full-
service survey providers and with internal solusioleveloped by customers and potential customensphcipal competitors include:

» large and small companies that provide datasauadlysis of consumers’ online behavior, includirftp&ive Measures, Gemius,
Compete Inc. (owned by WPP), Google, Inc., HitWm&ned by Experian), Quantcast, Visible MeasuresNielsen;
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» online advertising companies that provide meament of online ad effectiveness, including DoulidQowned by Google), Kantar
(owned by WPP), ValueClick and WPP;

e companies that provide audience ratings for fEdjo and other media that have extended or magndxheir current services,
particularly in certain international markets, @ tmeasurement of digital media, including Arbitrbirelsen and Taylor Nelson Sofres
(owned by WPP);

» analytical services companies that provide gusts with detailed information of behavior on theivn Web sites, including Omniture
(owned by Adobe), Coremetrics (owned by IBM), andiWrends;

« full-service market research firms and survegviters that may measure online behavior and d#guincluding Harris Interactive,
Ipsos, Synnovate, GFK, Kantar (owned by WPP) aredsi;

» companies that provide behavioral, attitudirrad gualitative advertising effectiveness, includirgjuna/Nurago, Click Forensics,
Datran’s Aperture, Ipsos OTX, Dynamic Logic, Indifitxpress and Marketing Evolution; and

e specialty information providers for certain irstities that we serve, including IMS Health (heatied and Techtronix
(telecommunications).

Some of our current competitors have longer opagditistories, access to larger customer basesudrstiitially greater resources than
we do. As a result, these competitors may be abdietote greater resources to marketing and promadtcampaigns, panel retention, panel
development or development of systems and techieddlyan we can. In addition, some of our compegtitoay adopt more aggressive pricing
policies or have started to provide some servite® @ost. Furthermore, our competitors may merigle @ach other, or large software
companies, Internet portals and database manageompnies may enter our market or enhance theieruofferings, either by developing
competing services, or by acquiring or entering sttategic alliances with our competitors, andddeverage their significant resources and
pre-existing relationships with our current andgmoial customers.

If we are unable to compete successfully againstorrent and future competitors, we may not be éblretain and acquire customers,
and we may consequently experience a decline enums, reduced operating margins, loss of markeesind diminished value from our
products.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtma costs, which could adversely affect our resufsoperations.

We have experienced significant growth over the pageral years in the U.S. and internationally. Wiee substantially expanded our
overall business, customer base, headcount, di¢atean and processing infrastructure and opegapirocedures as our business has grown
through both organic growth and acquisitions. Wkéased our total number of full time employee$, @92 employees as of June 30, 2013
from 588 employees as of December 31, 2008. Asudtref downward adjustments to compensation addations in our workforce made in
recent periods, however, we may encounter decreasptbyee morale and increased employee turnoveredder, as a result of acquisition
integration initiatives, we may reduce the workfoaf an acquired company or reassign personneh &ctgons may expose us to disruption by
dissatisfied employees or employee-related clainet,ding without limitation, claims by terminatednployees that believe they are owed
more compensation than we believe these employeadua under our compensation and benefit plandaons maintained internationally in
jurisdictions whose laws and procedures differ fitiwse in the United States. In addition, during fame period, we made substar
investments in our network infrastructure operatian a result of our growth and the growth of amrgh, and we have also undertaken certain
strategic acquisitions.

We believe that we will need to continue to effeely manage and expand our organization, operatinddacilities in order to
accommodate potential future growth or acquisitiand to successfully integrate acquired busine#fs&®. continue to grow, either organica
or through acquired businesses, our current sysamah$acilities may not be adequate. Our needfeztfely manage our operations and cost
structure requires that we continue to assessraprbive our operational, financial and managementrots, reporting systems and procedures
For example, we may be required to enter into ke&seadditional facilities or commit to significeimvestments in the build out of current or
new facilities to support our growth. If we are bleato effectively forecast our facilities needsfave are unable to sublease or terminate
leases for unused space, we may experience indreasgpected costs. If we are not able to effityesnid effectively manage our cost
structure or are unable to find appropriate spacipport our needs, our business may be impaired.

Failure to effectively expand our sales and markedicapabilities could harm our ability to increasmir customer base and achieve broader
market acceptance of our products.

Increasing our customer base and achieving braadgtet acceptance of our products will dependgmaificant extent on our ability to
expand our sales and marketing operations. We éxpeontinue to rely on our direct sales forceltain new customers. We may expand or
enhance our direct sales force both domesticallyimternationally. We believe that there is sigrafit competition for direct sales personnel
with the sales skills and technical knowledge thatequire. Our ability to
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achieve significant growth in revenues in the fatuill depend, in large part, on our success inuigng, training and retaining sufficient
numbers of direct sales personnel, and our aldigross train our existing sales force with theséorces of acquired businesses so that the
sales personnel have the necessary informatiomitity to sell or develop sales prospects for bmih products and the products of recently-
acquired companies. In general, new hires regigréficant training and substantial experience befesecoming productive. Our recent hires
and planned hires may not become as productiveeagauire, and we may be unable to hire or retasficeent numbers of qualified

individuals in the future in the markets where werently operate or where we seek to conduct basin@ur business will be seriously harmec
if the efforts to expand our sales and marketirgabdities are not successful or if they do notegate a sufficient increase in revenues.

If we fail to develop our brand, our business mayffer.

We believe that building and maintaining awareregssomScore and our portfolio of products in a esfétctive manner is critical to
achieving widespread acceptance of our currenfande products and is an important element iraating new customers. We will also need
to carefully manage the brands used by recentlyiesd) businesses as we integrate such businedsesuinown. We rely on our relationships
with the media and the exposure we receive fromarons citations of our data by media outlets téddoiiand awareness and credibility
among our customers and the marketplace. Furthermer believe that brand recognition will becomeerimportant for us as competition in
our market increases. Our brand’s success willmgpa the effectiveness of our marketing efforts an our ability to provide reliable and
valuable products to our customers at competiti@ep. Our brand marketing activities may not yielckeased revenues, and even if they do,
any increased revenues may not offset the expeves@scur in attempting to build our brand. If wél ta successfully market our brand, we
may fail to attract new customers, retain existingtomers or attract media coverage to the exeggsary to realize a sufficient return on out
brand-building efforts, and our business and resflbperations could suffer.

We have a history of significant net losses, magun significant net losses in the future and may thmaintain profitability.

Although we have generated profits in prior perjotle incurred a net loss of $11.8 million for theay ended December 31, 2012. As
such we cannot assure you that we will be ableldeae, sustain or increase profitability in théufe, particularly if we engage in additional
acquisition activity as we did in 2011 and 2010 fhe six months ended June 30, 2013, we incuaneek loss of $2.4 million . As of June 30,
2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $83.3 arilli Because a large portion of our costs are fiwedmay not be able to reduce or maintain
our expenses in response to any decrease in cemues, which would adversely affect our operatesylts. In addition, we expect operating
expenses to increase as we implement certain griowitttives, which include, among other things ttevelopment of new products, expan
of our infrastructure, plans for international empi@an and general and administrative expensesiasstevith being a public company. If our
revenues do not increase to offset these expentegases in costs and operating expenses, outtioger@sults would be materially and
adversely affected. If we continue to incur sigrafit net losses, we may not be able to realizaioedeferred tax assets associated with our ne
operating loss carryforwards. As of June 30, 2@d8gestimate our federal and state net operatirggdagyforwards for tax purposes are
approximately $38.5 million and $35.9 million, resfively. You should not consider our revenue glointrecent periods as indicative of our
future performance, as our operating results farrfuperiods are subject to numerous uncertainties.

We have limited experience with respect to our premodel, and if the fees we charge for our prodsiare unacceptable to our customers,
our revenues and operating results will be harmed.

We have limited experience in determining the fbas our existing and potential customers will faxcteptable for our products, the
products of companies that we recently acquired,aany potential products that are developed asudtref the
integration of our company with acquired companidsge majority of our customers purchase specifidaliiored subscription packages that
priced in the aggregate. Due to the level of cugtation of such subscription packages, the prichgontracts or individual product
components of such packages may not be readily a@ahfe across customers or periods. Existing atehgial customers may have difficulty
assessing the value of our products and services wbmparing it to competing products and servideshe market for our products matures,
or as new competitors introduce new products orces that compete with ours, we may be unableriew our agreements with existing
customers or attract new customers with the feekawve historically charged. As a result, it is flolgsthat future competitive dynamics in our
market as well as global economic pressures mayireegs to reduce our fees, which could have ardveffect on our revenues, profitability
and operating results.
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We cannot assure you that our stock repurchase perg will actually result in repurchases of our conun stock or enhance long-term
stockholder value, and repurchases, if any, coulfieat our stock price and increase its volatilityd will diminish our cash reserve:

On May 30, 2013, our board of directors approvedogram authorizing the repurchase of up to $50anibf shares of our common
stock until May 29, 2014. Under the program, wearthorized to repurchase shares of our commoR gtampen market transactions or
pursuant to any trading plan that may be adopteddaordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Brge Act of 1934, as amended. The
timing and actual number of shares repurchasedhyif will depend on a variety of factors, includihg price and availability of our shares,
trading volume and general market conditions.

Repurchases pursuant our stock repurchase prograleoh @ffect our stock price and increase its viitgtand will reduce the market
liquidity for our stock. Additionally, repurchasaader stock repurchase program will diminish owhceeserves, which could impact our ab
to pursue possible future strategic opportunitied @acquisitions and would result in lower overaturns on our cash balances. There can be
assurance that any stock repurchases will, in émctr, or, if they occur, that they will enhantecgholder value because the market price of
our common stock may decline below the levels dtiwtve repurchased shares of stock. Although @makstepurchase program is intended to
enhance long-term stockholder value, short-terrokspoice fluctuations could reduce the effectivenafsthese repurchases.

If we are unable to sell additional products to oekisting customers or attract new customers, oavenue growth will be adversely affect

To increase our revenues, we believe we must dditianal products to existing customers, includaxisting customers of acquired
businesses, and regularly add new customers. ¥xigting and prospective customers do not peraaivgroducts to be of sufficient value
quality, we may not be able to increase salesiiieg customers and attract new customers, or @i mave difficulty retaining existing
customers, and our operating results will be adremsffected.

We depend on third parties for data that is critlda our business, and our business could suffenié cannot continue to obtain data from
these suppliers.

We rely on thirdparty data sources for information regarding certhgital activities such as television viewing andbile usage, as we
as for information about offline activities of addmographic information regarding our paneliste @failability and accuracy of these data is
important to the continuation and development ofaoss-media products, products that use serverrsus-based information as part of the
research methodology, and products that link ordime offline activity. If this information is notwailable to us at commercially reasonable
terms, or is found to be inaccurate, it could hatrmreputation, business and financial performance.

System failures or delays in the operation of ownsputer and communications systems may harm ouribass.

Our success depends on the efficient and uninteugperation of our computer and communicatiossesys and the third-party data
centers we use. Our ability to collect and repocusate data may be interrupted by a number obfacincluding our inability to access the
Internet, the failure of our network or softwaretgms, computer viruses, security breaches orhilityain user traffic on customer Web sites.
A failure of our network or data gathering proceziucould impede the processing of data, causeotheption or loss of data or prevent the
timely delivery of our products.

In the future, we may need to expand our networksystems at a more rapid pace than we have ipaste Our network or systems may
not be capable of meeting the demand for increaapdcity, or we may incur additional unanticipategenses to accommodate these capaci
demands. In addition, we may lose valuable datanatle to obtain or provide data on a timely basisur network may temporarily shut
down if we fail to adequately expand or maintain metwork capabilities to meet future requiremeAisy lapse in our ability to collect or
transmit data may decrease the value of our predarad prevent us from providing the data requdsyenlir customers. Any disruption in our
network processing or loss of Internet user data daanage our reputation and result in the losausfamers, and our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

We rely on a small number of third-party servicegwiders to host and deliver our products, and anyeirruptions or delays in services from
these third parties could impair the delivery of oproducts and harm our business.

We host our products and serve all of our custoritrens data center facilities located throughoutlthréted States and Europe. While we
operate our equipment inside these facilities, waat control the operation of these facilitiesd atepending on service level requirements
may not continue to operate or maintain redundate denter facilities for all of our products or &l of our data, which could increase our
vulnerability. These facilities are vulnerable gnuhge or interruption from earthquakes, hurricafiesds, fires, power loss,
telecommunications failures and similar events.yTére
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also subject to break-ins, computer viruses, sgeoiatentional acts of vandalism and other miscohdA natural disaster or an act of
terrorism, a decision to close the facilities withadequate notice or other unanticipated problemn&d result in lengthy interruptions in
availability of our products. We may also encourmigpacity limitations at our third-party data ceatédditionally, our data center facility
agreements are of limited durations, and our damdec facilities have no obligation to renew tragreements with us on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. Our agreements fovatious data center facilities expire at varioated through March 2018. We believe that we
have good relationships with our data center figoilendors and believe that we will be able to vener find alternative data center facilities
commercially reasonable terms. Although we aresobstantially dependent on our data center fagslitiecause of planned redundancies, anc
although we currently are able to migrate to alitue data centers, such a migration may reswhimterruption or delay in service. If we are
unable to renew our agreements with the ownerseofdcilities on commercially reasonable termsf me migrate to a new data center, we
may experience delays in delivering our productd an agreement with another data center faciéy be arranged or the migration to a new
facility is completed.

We currently leverage a large content delivery ekwor CDN, to provide services that allow us ffeoa more efficient tagging
methodology for our Media Metrix 360 product offegs. If that service faced unplanned outage oséineice became immediately unavaila
an alternate CDN provider or additional capacitpim data centers would need to be establishedpjocst the large volume of tag requests
we currently manage which would either require iddal investments in equipment and facilities dramsition plan. This could unexpectedly
raise the costs and could contribute to delaysssds in tag data that could affect the qualityrapdtation of our Media Metrix 360 data
products.

Further, we depend on access to the Internet thrthigdparty bandwidth providers to operate our businésge lose the services of 0
or more of our bandwidth providers for any reasea could experience disruption in the delivery of products or be required to retain the
services of a replacement bandwidth provider. Iy tma difficult for us to replace any lost bandwidtin commercially reasonable terms, or at
all, due to the large amount of bandwidth our opiena require.

Our operations also rely heavily on the availapiit electrical power and cooling capacity, whick also supplied by third-party
providers. If we or the thirgharty data center operators that we use to deiveproducts were to experience a major power eubadf the cos
of electrical power increases significantly, ouerggions and profitability would be harmed. If wetloe third-party data centers that we use
were to experience a major power outage, we woane o rely on back-up generators, which may nattion properly, and their supply may
be inadequate. Such a power outage could restiieidisruption of our business. Additionally, ifrawrrent facilities fail to have sufficient
cooling capacity or availability of electrical porv&e would need to find alternative facilities.

Any errors, defects, disruptions or other perforogaproblems with our products caused by third partbuld harm our reputation and
may damage our business. Interruptions in the aidity of our products may reduce our revenuestduacreased turnaround time to
complete projects, cause us to issue credits tomess, cause customers to terminate their subiseripnd project agreements or adversely
affect our renewal rates. Our business would benbdrif our customers or potential customers bel@mweproducts are unreliable.

Laws related to the regulation of the Internet calibdversely affect our busines

Laws and regulations that apply to communicatiorss @mmerce over the Internet are becoming moneafaet. In particular, the
growth and development of the market for eCommbeseprompted calls for more stringent tax, consysnetection and privacy laws in the
United States and abroad that may impose addittmmaens on companies conducting business onlime atloption, modification or
interpretation of laws or regulations relatinghe internet or our customers’ digital operationsldmegatively affect the businesses of our
customers and reduce their demand for our prodaeen if such laws and regulations are not enata@dnakers and regulators may publicly
call into question the collection and use of Inétror mobile usage data and may affect vendorsasimers’ willingness to do business with
us.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that sleuld have collected or in the future should caltesales and use, value added or similar
taxes, and we could be subject to liability withspect to past or future sales, which could adveysafect our results of operations.

We do not collect sales and use, value added amthsitaxes in all jurisdictions in which we hawaes. Sales and use, value added and
similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisidic. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not @alt such taxes may assert that such taxes ar
applicable, which could result in tax assessmegmsalties and interest, and we may be requiredlteat such taxes in the future. Such tax
assessments, penalties and interest or futureresgents may adversely affect the results of ouraijmns.
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If we fail to respond to evolving industry standardour products may become obsolete or less cortinet

The market for our products is characterized bydrégrhnological advances, changes in customeilrezgants, changes in protocols and
evolving industry standards. For example, induasigociations such as the Advertising Research Ftiongdthe Council of American Survey
Research Organizations, the Internet AdvertisincgeBu, or IAB, and the Media Rating Council haveesipendently initiated efforts to either
review online market research methodologies oeteetbp minimum standards for online market resedrcApril 2011, comScore Direct was
accredited by the Media Rating Council. Any staddaadopted by U.S or internationally based indussisociations may lead to costly char
to our procedures and methodologies. As a resdtcost of developing our digital marketing intgihce products could increase. If we do no
adhere to standards prescribed by the I1AB or atiterstry associations, our customers could chamgeitchase products from competing
companies that meet such standards. Furthermahestity associations based in countries outsideeotnited States often endorse certain
vendors or methodologies. If our methodologiesttaileceive an endorsement from an important imguastsociation located in a foreign
country, advertising agencies, media companiesadudrtisers in that country may not purchase oodyxets. As a result, our efforts to further
expand internationally could be adversely affected.

The success of our business depends on the contimgrewth of the Internet as a medium for commeroentent, advertising and
communications.

Expansion in the sales of our products dependh®cdntinued acceptance of the Internet as a ptatfior commerce, content,
advertising and communications. The use of theheteas a medium for commerce, content, advertaimtjcommunications could be
adversely impacted by delays in the developmeatioption of new standards and protocols to hamdieased demands of Internet activity,
security, reliability, cost, ease-of-use, accetigitind quality-of-service. The performance of theernet and its acceptance as a medium for
commerce, content, advertising and communicati@ssbeen harmed by viruses, worms, and similar lmabgprograms, and the Internet has
experienced a variety of outages and other delaygsrasult of damage to portions of its infrasuuet If for any reason the Internet does not
remain a medium for widespread commerce, conteneréising and communications, the demand for esadpcts would be significantly
reduced, which would harm our business.

We rely on our management team and may need add#igersonnel to grow our business; the loss of aanore key employees or the
inability to attract and retain qualified personnalould harm our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicesiomanagement team, including our
founders, Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D. and Gian M. Falig®ur future success also depends on our aldlitgtain, attract and motivate highly
skilled technical, managerial, marketing and cugtioservice personnel, including members of our pameent team. All of our employees
work for us on an at-will basis. We plan to hirelgidnal personnel in all areas of our businessgtiq@darly for our sales, marketing and
technology development areas, both domesticallyimednationally, which will likely increase ouraruiiting and hiring costs. Competition for
these types of personnel is intense, particularthé Internet and software industries. As a residtmay be unable to successfully attract or
retain qualified personnel. Our inability to retaind attract the necessary personnel could adyeaffett our business.

Changes in, or interpretations of, accounting rulesd regulations, could result in unfavorable accoting charges.

Accounting methods and policies, including poliaigverning revenue recognition, expenses and atioguior stock options are
continually subject to review, interpretation, anddance from relevant accounting authorities,udeig the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB, and the SEC. Changes to, or ind&agions of, accounting methods or policies inftliare may require us to reclassify, res
or otherwise change or revise our financial stateéme

Investors could lose confidence in our financialperts, and our business and stock price may be askiy affected, if our internal contra
over financial reporting is found by management by our independent registered public accountingnfimot to be adequate or if we disclt
significant existing or potential deficiencies or aterial weaknesses in those contro

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguis to include a report on our internal cortk@r financial reporting in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K. That report includesiagement assessment of the effectiveness of our inteoratal over financial reportin
as of the end the fiscal year. Additionally, outépendent registered public accounting firm is iregto issue a report on their evaluation of
the operating effectiveness of our internal contrar financial reporting.

We continue to evaluate our existing internal calstagainst the standards adopted by the Publicg@oynAccounting Oversight Board,
or PCAOB. During the course of our ongoing evahmaif our internal controls, we have in the pastiified, and may in the future identify,
areas requiring improvement, and may have to desifpanced processes and controls to address iden¢ified through this review.
Remedying any significant deficiencies or matesiabknesses that we
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or our independent registered public accounting finay identify could require us to incur signifitaosts and expend significant time and
management resources. We cannot assure you thaf #my measures we may implement to remedy anly deficiencies will effectively
mitigate or remedy such deficiencies. Further,éfave not able to complete the assessment undors404 in a timely manner or to remedy
any identified material weaknesses, we and ourmiedéent registered public accounting firm wouldubable to conclude that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective aettequired reporting deadlines. If our internaltcoinover financial reporting is found by
management or by our independent registered pabtiountant to not be adequate or if we disclog@fgignt existing or potential deficiencies
or material weaknesses in those controls, investukl lose confidence in our financial reports,aeld be subject to sanctions or
investigations by The NASDAQ Global Market, the @déties and Exchange Commission or other reguladoithorities and our stock price
could be adversely affected.

In future periods, we may upgrade our financiabrépg systems and implement new information tedbgysystems to better manage
our business, streamline our financial reporting @nhance our existing internal controls. We mayegence difficulties if we transition to n
or upgraded systems, including loss of data andedses in productivity as our personnel becomelimvith new systems. In addition, we
expect that our existing management informatiortesys may require modification and refinement agvesv and our business needs change.
Any modifications could prolong difficulties we esgpence with systems transitions, and we may wedyd employ the most efficient or
effective systems for our purposes. If upgrades mase or take longer than we anticipate, our dpgaesults could be adversely affected.
Moreover, if we
experience difficulties in implementing new or uaded information systems or experience systemréswr if we are unable to successfully
modify our management information systems to redgorchanges in our business needs, our abilitiyrtely and effectively process analyze
and prepare financial statements could be adveadtdgted.

A determination that there is a significant deficig or material weakness in the effectiveness ofmtarnal control over financial
reporting could also reduce our ability to obtamahcing or could increase the cost of any finageue obtain and require additional
expenditures to comply with applicable requirements

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire uilized or underutilized, which could prevent usdim offsetting future taxable income.

We have previously experienced “changes in conttat have triggered the limitations of Section 88#he Internal Revenue Code on a
portion of our net operating loss carryforwards.aA®sult, we may be limited in the amount of megrating loss carryforwards that we can ust
in the future to offset taxable income for U.S. &edlincome tax purposes.

As of June 30, 2013 , we estimate our federal taté set operating loss carryforwards for tax pagsoare approximately $38.5 million
and $35.9 million, respectively. These net opegglirss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2022 federal income tax reporting purposes
and in 2014 for state income tax reporting purposes

In addition, as of June 30, 2013 we estimate ogreagate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses related to our foreign
subsidiaries are $32.5 million, which will beginempire in 2013.

We apply a valuation allowance to certain defeteedassets when management does not believe thahdre-likely-than-not that they
will be realized. In assessing the need for anyatzn allowances, we consider the reversal oftiegjgemporary differences associated with
deferred tax assets and liabilities, future taxaiteme, tax planning strategies and historical famare pre-tax book income (as adjusted for
permanent differences between financial and tagw@aaing items) in order to determine if it is mdikeely than not that the deferred tax asset
will be realized.

As of June 30, 2013 , we had a valuation allowartaed to the deferred tax assets of the foreidpsidiaries (primarily net operating
loss carryforwards) that are either loss compamiese in their start-up phases, including entitielexico, Spain, Australia, the Czech
Republic and the Netherlands and the deferreddsetaelated to certain state net operating lasgfoavards. Management will continue to
evaluate the deferred tax position of our U.S. faneign companies to determine the appropriatel lefrealuation allowance required against
our deferred tax assets.

Restrictive Covenants in the Agreements Governingr Qurrent and Future Indebtedness Could Restricu©Operating Flexibility.

The agreements governing our existing debt, antwlelmay incur in the future, contain, or may camtaffirmative and negative
covenants that materially limit our ability to takertain actions, including our ability to incurbdepay dividends and repurchase stock, make
certain investments and other payments, entercirtiain mergers and consolidations, and encumlzkdiapose of assets. Credit market
turmoil, adverse events affecting our businessdustry, the tightening of lending standards oeofactors could negatively impact our ability
to obtain future financing or to refinance our ¢amsling indebtedness on terms acceptable to usadit a
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Our Ability To Draw On Our Loan Facility May Be Adersely Affected by Conditions in the U.S. and Imtetional Capital Markets.

If financial institutions that have extended credius are adversely affected by the conditionthefJ.S. and international capital and
credit markets, they may be unable to fund borrgwinnder credit commitments to us. For examplesuveently have a $50.0 million
revolving line of credit, with a $10.0 million suiviit for standby letters of credit, from Bank of &nica. As of June 30, 2013 €1.5 million (or
approximately $2.0 million ) is outstanding undee terms of the Company’s Revolving Credit FaciliyBank of America is adversely
affected by capital and credit market conditiond are unable to make loans to us when requestexé tlould be a corresponding adverse
impact on our financial condition and our abilio/liorrow additional funds, if needed, for workirepital and general corporate purposes.

We may require additional capital to support busssegrowth, and this capital may not be available acceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to supparbusiness growth and may require additionatifuto respond to business
challenges, including the need to develop new tsdor enhance our existing products, enhance menating infrastructure and acquire
complementary businesses and technologies.

Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity ortdielncings to secure additional funds. If we easlditional funds through further
issuances of equity or convertible debt securities existing stockholders could suffer significdittition, and any new equity securities we
issue could have rights, preferences and privilegeerior to those of holders of our common stéalky debt financing secured by us in the
future could include restrictive covenants relatiogur capital raising activities and other fineh@and operational matters, which may make i
more difficult for us to obtain additional capitatd to pursue business opportunities, includingm@! acquisitions. In addition, we may not
able to obtain additional financing on terms fawdeao us or at all. If we are unable to obtaincadee financing or financing on terms
satisfactory to us when we require it, our abiléycontinue to support our business growth an@spaond to business challenges could be
significantly limited. In addition, the terms ofyaadditional equity or debt issuances may adveraféct the value and price of our common
stock.

Risks Related to the Securities Market and Ownershpi of our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock may be subjersignificant fluctuations and volatility, and ur new stockholders may be unable to
resell their shares at a profit.

The stock markets, in general, and the marketsefdmology stocks in particular, have experiendgll fevels of volatility. The market
for technology stocks has been extremely volatilg faequently reaches levels that bear no relatipn® the past or present operating
performance of those companies. These broad mifwkaiations may adversely affect the trading po€eur common stock. In addition, the
trading price of our common stock has been sulbjesignificant fluctuations and may continue tacfluate or decline.

The price of our common stock in the market mayigéer or lower than the price you pay, dependingnany factors, some of which
are beyond our control and may not be related t@parating performance. It is possible that, itufa quarters, our operating results may be
below the expectations of analysts or investorsa Assult of these and other factors, the priceuofcommon stock may decline, possibly
materially. These fluctuations could cause yows®lall or part of your investment in our commatkt Factors that could cause fluctuations
in the trading price of our common stock include tbllowing:

» price and volume fluctuations in the overall stocérket from time to tim

» volatility in the market price and trading volumitechnology companies and of companies in oursirgh
e actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations inaperating result

» actual or anticipated changes in expectations dégguour performance by investors or securitiedyets
» the failure of securities analysts to cover our omn stock or changes in financial estimates byyate

» actual or anticipated developments in our coitgrst businesses or the competitive landsc

» actual or perceived inaccuracies in, or dissatigfaavith, information we provide to our customersthe medie
« litigation involving us, our industry or bo

* regulatory developmen

e privacy and security concerns, including publicae@tion of our practices as an invasion of priv

» general economic conditions and tre|

e major catastrophic even

» sales of large blocks of our sto
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» the timing and success of new product introductmmsgpgrades by us or our competit
« changes in our pricing policies or payment termthose of our competitol
* concerns relating to the security of our networét aystem:

e our ability to expand our operations, domeshycahd internationally, and the amount and timifigxpenditures related to this
expansion; or

» departures of key personr

In the past, following periods of volatility in thlearket price of a company’s securities, securitlass action litigation has often been
brought against that company. If our stock priceokatile, we may become the target of securifiigaltion, which could result in substantial
costs and divert our management’s attention aralress from our business. In addition, volatillack of positive performance in our stock
price or changes to our overall compensation pragmacluding our equity incentive program, may adedy affect our ability to retain key
employees.

We cannot assure you that a market will continuedevelop or exist for our common stock or what tmarket price of our common stock
will be.

We cannot assure you that a public trading makeddir common stock will continue to develop orsistained. If a market is not
sustained, it may be difficult for you to sell yahrares of common stock at an attractive prica all.aWe cannot predict the prices at which
common stock will trade.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or reports about our business or if theguie an adverse or misleading opinit
regarding our stock, our stock price and tradinglume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts publish about
us or our business. If any of the analysts who cagdssue an adverse or misleading opinion reggraiir stock, our stock price would likely
decline. If one or more of these analysts ceaserage of our company or fail to publish reportausnegularly, we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause oocktprice or trading volume to decline.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholdersnemw issuances of securities by us could cause docls price to decline.

If we or our existing stockholders sell, or indiean intention to sell, substantial amounts ofammmon stock or other securities in the
public market, the trading price of our common ktoould decline. Sales of substantial amounts afeshof our common stock or other
securities by us or our existing stockholders cdoNeer the market price of our common stock andampur ability to raise capital through the
sale of new securities in the future at a time jamck that we deem appropriate.

We have incurred and will continue to incur incread costs and demands upon management as a reswooifplying with the laws and
regulations affecting a public company, which couédiversely affect our operating results.

As a public company, we have incurred and will gwre to incur significant legal, accounting andestbxpenses that we would not
otherwise incur if we were a private company. Idiidn, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the DBdahk Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules implemtibly the Securities and Exchange Commission aedNREDAQ Stock Market, requires
certain corporate governance practices for puldioganies. Our management and other personnel dagutiestantial amount of time to public
reporting requirements and corporate governancesd hules and regulations have significantly ineedaour legal and financial compliance
costs and made some activities more time-consuamdgcostly. We also have incurred additional castociated with our public company
reporting requirements. If these costs do not ocotito be offset by increased revenues and imprfiwadcial performance, our operating
results would be adversely affected. These ruldsegulations also make it more difficult and mexgensive for us to obtain director and
officer liability insurance, and we may be requitedaccept reduced policy limits and coverage ouiirsubstantially higher costs to obtain the
same or similar coverage if these costs continuiséo As a result, it may be more difficult for tasattract and retain qualified people to serve
on our board of directors or as executive officers.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation antlylaws and under Delaware law might discourage,alebr prevent a change of control «
our company or changes in our management and, tHere, depress the trading price of our common stock

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpiovisions that could depress the trading priceusfcommon stock by acting to
discourage, delay or prevent a change of controboftompany or changes in our management thatdo&holders of our company may deerr
advantageous. These provisions:

» provide for a classified board of directors so thattall members of our board of directors aretekkat one timi
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» authorize “blank check” preferred stock that baard of directors could issue to increase thelbrarof outstanding shares to
discourage a takeover attempt;

« prohibit stockholder action by written consent, @éhimeans that all stockholder actions must be takammeeting of our stockholde
»  prohibit stockholders from calling a special megtf our stockholder
» provide that the board of directors is expresshharized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

» provide for advance notice requirements for mations for elections to our board of directorgasrproposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of Ebelaware General Corporation Law, which prohibil3edaware corporation from
engaging in any of a broad range of business caatibims with any “interested” stockholder for a pérbf three years following the date on
which the stockholder became an “interested” stolddr and which may discourage, delay or prevesttamge of control of our company.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and UsdPobceeds

On June 3, 2013 the Company announced that itsllmbatirectors had approved the repurchase of @b@million of the Company's
common stock. Such repurchases may be made froantditime subject to pre-determined price and velguidelines established by the
Company's board of directors.

Share repurchase activity under our share repueghagram for each of the three months ended Jon203.3, was as follows:

Maximum Number

(or Approximate

Dollar Value) of
Total Number of Shares (or Units) that

Shares (or Units) May Yet Be
Average Price  Purchased as Part of Purchased Under the
Total Number of Per Share (or  Publicly Announced Plans or Programs (in
Fiscal Period Shares Purchased Unit) Plans or Programs millions)

April 1 - April 30, 2013 — — — —
May 1 - May 31, 2013 — — — —
June 1 - June 30, 2013 23,43% 21.11 23,437 $ 49.t

Total 23,43 23,437 $ 49.t

(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities during tfiaree Months Ended June 30, 2013
None.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Equity 3ities
None.

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer andildted Purchasers

During the three months ended June 30, 2013 , jecbased the following shares of common stocloimection with certain restricted
stock and restricted stock unit awards issued uodeEquity Incentive Plans:

Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Total Dollar
Number of Value) of
Shares (or Shares
Units) (or Units) that
Purchased as May
Part Yet Be
of Publicly Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Announced Under the
Shares (or Units) Per Plans of Plans or
Purchased (1) Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
April 1 - April 30, 2013 14,34¢  $ 11.4¢ — —
May 1 - May 31, 2013 21,52¢ % 9.3¢ — —
June 1 - June 30, 2013 6,84 $ — = =
Total 42,71¢ — —

(1) The shares included in the table above wearerohased either in connection with (i) our exer@$the repurchase right afforded to us in
connection with certain employee restricted stoghrals or (ii) the forfeiture of shares by an emplews payment of the minimum
statutory withholding taxes due upon the vestingesfain employee restricted stock and restrictecksunit awards.
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(i) For the three months ended June 30, 2013shhees repurchased in connection with our exeddifiee repurchase right afforded to us
upon the cessation of employment consisted ofdhewing:

Total Number of Average Price
Shares Purchased Per Share
April 1 - April 30, 2013 3,97¢ $ —
May 1 - May 31, 2013 11,10 % —
June 1 - June 30, 2013 6,84: $ —
Total 21,92(

(ii) The shares we repurchased in connection vaghpiayment of minimum statutory withholding taxeg dipon the vesting of certain
restricted stock and restricted stock unit awardeewepurchased at the then current fair markeieval the shares. For the three months ende
June 30, 2013, these shares consisted of theviotio

Total Number of Average Price
Shares Purchased Per Share
April 1 - April 30, 2013 10,37: $ 15.8¢
May 1 - May 31, 2013 10,427 $ 19.3¢
June 1 - June 30, 2013 — 3 —
Total 20,79¢

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
None.

Iltem 6. Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index attachedeto are filed or incorporated by reference (akedttherein) as part of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its behalf

the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: July 30, 2013
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Exhibit
No.

2.1(1

2.2(1

3.1(2

3.1(2

3.2(2

4.1(2

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101(3

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Document

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 4, 2§1&8hd among comScore, Inc., RSC The Quality
Measurement Company (collectively the Seller Pg)tiISW.ARS LLC (the Buyer) and MSW Research, Inc.
(the Guarantor). * (Exhibit 2.1)

Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated Maimh 15, 2013, by and among comScore, Inc., RS&
Quality Measurement Company (collectively the SdHlarties), MSW.ARS LLC (the Buyer) and MSW
Research, Inc. (the Guarantor). * (Exhibit 2.2)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Registrant (Exhibit 3.3)
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant (Exhibit 3.3)
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (kixBi4)

Warrant to purchase 24,375 shares of common stiad&d July 31, 2002 (Exhibit 4.10 (Originally tdle
“Warrant to purchase 108,382 shares of Series Dv€tible Preferred Stock, dated July 31, 2002"))

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Bees
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Se80@ of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Beéesi
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Se80@ of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuantt8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuantciio8e906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuantctio8906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of Ragn S-T: (i) Consolidated Statements of Operstifor the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and #{)1R2onsolidated Balance Sheets as of June 303 20d
December 31, 2012, (iii) Consolidated StatementStotkholders’ Equity for the six months ended J8@e
2013 and 2012, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Gémshs for the six months ended June 30, 2013 8i@ 2
and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial StatemEBfRL Exhibits.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filedrdh 21, 2013. The number given in
parentheses indicates the corresponding exhibibeuain such Form 8-K.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the exhibitsh Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form & Bmended, dated June 26, 2007 (No. 33
141740). The number given in parentheses indi¢ghtesorresponding exhibit number in such Form S-1.

(3) In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation,SHE information in these exhibits is furnished aleemed not filed or a part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purpof&ections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1983Jeemed not filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, and otheas not subject to liability under these sectiang shall not be incorporated by
reference into any registration statement or otleeument filed under the Securities Act of 1933amended, except as expressly set fortl
by specific reference in such filing.

* The registrant has omitted certain immaterialesiiies and exhibits to this exhibit pursuant togtmrisions of Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)
(2). The schedule of exhibits omitted is includathwsuch agreement. The registrant shall suppleatigritirnish a copy of any of the omitted
schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commiggion request.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Magid M. Abraham, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on ForraQ 0f comScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or déonfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoigdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period covmyrehlis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegint's internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intedl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiiernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal contrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ines\management or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reporting.

/sl MAGID M. A BRAHAM , PH .D.
Magid M. Abraham, Ph. D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: July 30, 2013



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kenneth J. Tarpey, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on ForraQ 0f comScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or déonfitate a material fact necessary ta
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedoifee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoigdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure coniots procedures, as of the end of the period coumyrehlis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegint's internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intedl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiiernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal contrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ines\management or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reporting.

/sIK ENNETH J. TARPEY
Kenneth J. Tarpey
Chief Financial Officer

Date: July 30, 2013



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of comSc¢dne. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the perientdling June 30, 201 filed witk
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelsasof (the “Report”), |, Magid M. Abraham, Chiekécutive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2618 to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Ex@eAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aildition and results of operations
of the Company.

/sl MAGID M. A BRAHAM , PH .D.
Magid M. Abraham, Ph. D.
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

July 30, 2013



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of comSc¢dne. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the perientding June 30, 201 filed witk
the Securities and Exchange Commission on thelsatof (the “Report”), |, Kenneth J. Tarpey, Chigfancial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 26184t to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Ex@eAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aildition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ KENNETH J. TARPEY
Kenneth J. Tarpey
Chief Financial Officer

July 30, 2013



